
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
 
77th Board Meeting 
Wednesday, October 3, 2007 12:00 p.m. – 4:15 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
11:30 a.m. Executive Session  
 Section 3.19 of the bylaws permit executive sessions for internal personnel   
                     matters. No action will be taken during the executive session. The executive 
 session is not open to the public. 
                    (13t floor Conference Room) 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (Tom Foley) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• August 8 meeting minutes   Action 


 
12:15 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 


 
12:20 p.m. Consent Agenda 2 Action 


• Authorize contribution to Supplemental  
   Employee Retirement Plan (R448)  
• Amending contract execution policy (R449)   


 
12:25 p.m. Energy Efficiency program (Jason Eisdorfer) 3 


• Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR New 
   Homes therm goal reduction (R451)   Action 
• Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings 
   program management contract (R450)  Action 
• Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes   Action 
   program management contract (R447) 
 


1: 25 p.m. Renewable Energy program (John Reynolds) 4 
• Prologis Solar PV project agreement (R453)  Action 


 
1:45 pm Staff Report (Margie Harris) 5  


• Feature presentation: 
     Business Energy Solutions Existing Buildings Program,  
     Greg Stiles, Sr. Business Sector Manager  Information 
• Planning update  Information 
• Approving four staff positions (R452)  Action 
• Highlights  Information 
• 2008 Board meeting schedule  Information 


 
3:00 p.m. Break 
 







Agenda  October 3, 2007 


   2


 
3: 15 p.m. President’s Report 
 
3:20 p.m. Committee Reports  
    
 Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 6 Information 
 
 Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  
   
 Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 7 Information 
 
 Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 8 Information 


 
 Legislative update (Jason Eisdorfer)  Information 
 
4:15 p.m. Adjourn 
 
 
 


Please note: the next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, November 14, 2007, 12:00 noon 


at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 


 







Agenda  October 3, 2007 


   3


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• August 8 meeting minutes   


 
Tab 2 Consent Agenda 


• Authorize contribution to Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (R448)  
• Amending contract execution policy (R449)   


 
Tab 3 Energy Efficiency program 


• Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR New Homes therm goal reduction (R451)) 
• Business Energy Solutions – Existing buildings project management contract (R450)   
• Home Energy Solutions – Existing homes project management contract (R447) 


 
Tab 4 Renewable Energy program 


• Prologis Solar PV project agreement (R453)   
 


Tab 5 Staff report 
• Approving four staff positions (R452) 
• Highlights 
• 2008 proposed Board and Advisory Council meeting schedule 


 
Tab 6 Finance Committee 


• Notes from September 10 meeting 
• July monthly financials 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 7 Policy Committee  


• Notes from August 1 meeting 
• Notes from September 4 meeting 


 
Tab 8 Program Evaluation Committee 


• Home Energy Savings Program Multifamily Building Owner evaluation and staff response 
• Community Wind RFP Process Evaluation and staff response 
• Building Tune-up and Operations Program Evaluation and staff response 


 
Tab 9 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes September 19 
• RAC notes July 18 
 


 








 
 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 76th Meeting 
August 8, 2007 
 
Board members present:  Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Julie Hammond, Debbie 
Kitchin, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds; joining via teleconference for action items: John Klosterman and 
Preston Michie. Bill Nesmith arrived at 1:15 pm. 
 
Board members absent:  Al Jubitz, Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, John Savage 
 
Staff attending:  Kacia Brockman, Alan Cowan, Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve 
Lacey, Brooke Nelson, Elaine Prause, Linda Rudawitz, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Adam Serchuk, 
Greg Stiles, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Steve Bicker, NW Natural; Greg Damon, Moss Adams; Michael Early, Industrial 
Customers of Northwest Utilities; Hallie Gallinger, PacifiCorp; Margie Gardner, Executive Director, 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance; Christine Kaufman, Cascade Natural Gas; Chuck Klang, 
homeowner participant; Chris Kradjan, Moss Adams; Lynn McIntier, Moss Adams; Nick Parsons, 
Lockheed Martin; Aaron Wines, Lockheed Martin  
 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:07 pm. Margie Harris presented Tom Foley a 
colorful paper crown in honor of the 75th board meeting (originally, this was the 75th meeting but a 
meeting was added June 20).  
 
Agenda  
Tom explained the agenda has been changed to facilitate telephone participation on action items by John 
Klosterman and Preston Michie.  
 
 
Discussion of Action Items 
 
May 9, 2007, Meeting Minutes. Tom Foley pointed out a date error in resolution 436 (should be 
November 2006 not 2007).  
 
June 20, 2007, Meeting Minutes. No corrections noted.  
 
New solar homes exemption from Green Tag Policy (R445). John Volkman explained we have tried to break 
into the new homes market with solar, believing it to be an important market. Energy Trust pays the 
incentive to the builder. Under the current green tag policy, green tags would be owned by the eventual 
homeowner, who often is not identified at the time of the new home construction and who must 
convey tag ownership back to Energy Trust. Builders believe that to explain such a requirement and 
transaction would be complex and would hurt their efforts to build and sell solar homes. If required to 
do this, builders indicated they would simply not include solar on homes they construct. A few 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


2 


developers indicated their willingness to install systems provided they do not have to complete a 
complicated transaction involving green tags.  
 
Staff has identified approximately 35 homes to be constructed with solar in the coming year. An 
exemption for up to 100 such homes is being requested. During the year the exemption is in place, staff 
will continue to work with builders to devise a workable approach. The OPUC is comfortable with this 
limited-term exemption.  
 
Tom asked if builders are now entitled to the 50% Residential Energy Tax Credit. Elizabeth Giles said 
homebuilders will be able to claim a Business Energy Tax Credit equivalent to the Residential credit, up 
to $6,000 per home. John Reynolds asked what we expect to change over the year? Will builders be 
more comfortable explaining green tags? John Volkman said we cannot guarantee this result but noted in 
California builders are comfortable. (Later conversation clarified that California builders are not 
required to have their buyers release green tags to another party.)  
 
Peter West said the plan is to have further dialogue. We would move forward with one builder and 
create a model for others. The first part will be education. Julie asked if it could be an option for the 
homebuyer to give up the green tags. Peter said this is a possibility but we have not had the chance to 
discuss such options with builders.  
 
Alan Meyer voiced concern with the proposal. He wondered if there could be a requirement that the 
homebuilder retire the tags on behalf of the homeowner and ratepayers. He did not support funding 
projects if they did not bring long-term value to ratepayers, as occurs via retirement of green tags. Julie 
said builders investing in solar would be nervous about making the homeowner do something they 
cannot explain. It’s going to be a red flag for the homeowner. We are trying to move the builder 
market. She asked about the value of the green tags. Peter said the tags are about $150 per home for a 
three kW system. Julie thought we could look at this small amount of money as a grant to develop the 
market.  
 
Debbie Kitchin asked what the different RAC positions were, noting the meeting notes comment that 
the RAC could not reach consensus. Peter said concerns ranged from the considerations Alan raised to 
those who said Energy Trust should not own green tags at all. It became a philosophical discussion. 
There were no conclusions and no one opposed this proposal going forward to the board. Alan was the 
strongest spokesman not in favor of the proposal. Utilities and the Bonneville Environmental Foundation 
(BEF) were absent. Subsequently Peter contacted PGE and BEF, and found they support the proposal. 
Julie asked what the builders said. Peter said staff did a survey of builders and the green tag give-back 
provision was a deal breaker.  
 
Tom noted there is no reference in the resolution that the green tags go to the homeowner and asked 
that such a reference be added to the end of the first resolved item. Alan asked a series of questions 
about the size of PV systems on new homes (2 kW) and the amount of Energy Trust incentives 
(approximately $4,000-$4,700).  
 
Debbie said she thought this is worth doing and did not want to set a long-term precedent. She was 
willing to try this for a year to see if we can get the market to move. She would not support extending 
the exemption. Rick and Preston agreed.  
 
East Portland Community Center solar project (R443). John Reynolds introduced this project, which came in 
under the Open Solicitation program. Peter West said Energy Trust proposes to pay up to 100% of the 
above-market costs of this 90 kW system. Staff supported the project for three reasons. First, this is the 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


3 


first time a solar system is essential for the project to earn a LEED gold rating. Second, PGE is 
participating and will make a $100,000 grant to the project. Finally, it is an innovative ownership model 
involving an LLC composed of BEF and a major investor, who will claim the project’s tax benefits in the 
project’s early years, and then the majority ownership will “flip” to BEF, at which point the LLC may or 
may not continue to exist, and the city might purchase the solar system.   
 
Swalley Irrigation open solicitation project (R444). Julie Hammond declared a conflict of interest, in that a 
partner in this project is one of Julie’s company’s clients. When the project is completed, she will have 
to insure it and her commission will increase. After board discussion of the conflict, Julie abstained from 
discussion and did not vote on this measure. 
 
John Reynolds introduced the proposal. Peter West explained the irrigation district plans to pipe the 
first five miles of the canal, reducing water loss by a quarter to a third. Half of the saved water would be 
routed into the Deschutes river, where it would be beneficial to fish. Energy Trust proposes to pay, 
over a 15-year period, $895,609 in above-market to install a 750 kW generator at the end of the 5.1 
mile pipe. The project is expected to generate 2,752 MWh per year.  
 
John Klosterman joined by teleconference at 12:50 pm. Preston Michie joined a few minutes later, also by 
teleconference; he missed the first vote.  
 
Swalley Irrigation open solicitation project (Resolution 444) 


RESOLUTION #444 


APPROVING FUNDING FOR THE SWALLEY IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Swalley Irrigation District proposes to pipe 5.1 miles of what is now an open 
irrigation canal that diverts water from the Deschutes River in Bend. The pipe 
would conserve water, a significant portion of which the District would restore 
to the Deschutes. 


2. Swalley seeks an Energy Trust incentive to pay the above-market costs of 
installing a 750 kW generator (nameplate capacity) at the end of the 5.1-mile 
pipe. If paid over 15 years, the above-market costs of the project’s electric 
generation would be $895,609. 


3. Energy Trust funding would be contingent on approval of a State Energy Loan 
and Swalley securing a pass-through partner under the state’s Business Energy 
Tax Credit program. 


4. The project will demonstrate the benefits of cooperation among diverse parties 
in a water-challenged part of the State.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the Executive 
Director to negotiate and execute a contract with the Swalley Irrigation District to 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


4 


pay up to $895,609 of the above-market costs of the electric generation aspect of 
this project, consistent with the following terms: 


1. Payment will begin upon commissioning of the project after an inspection shows 
standards are met for commercial operation.  


2. Swalley will manage the project to meet agreed construction and operation 
milestones.  


3. Funds will be paid on actual production over a 15 year period. 


4. Energy Trust will receive all the green tags generated by the project. 
 
This vote occurred before the others and before Preston Michie had joined by teleconference.  


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Rick Applegate 


Vote: In favor: 7 Abstained: 1 (Julie Hammond declared 
a conflict of interest) 


 Opposed: 0 


 


  Adopted on August 8, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
May 9, 2007, Meeting Minutes 
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the May 9, 2007, meeting minutes with editorial change.  
 
 Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 
 
 Vote:  In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 Opposed: 0 
 
 Adopted on August 8, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
June 20, 2007, Meeting Minutes 
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the June 20, 2007, meeting minutes.  
 
 Moved by: Rick Applegate  Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 
 
 Vote:  In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 Opposed: 0 
 
 Adopted on August 8, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


5 


New solar homes exemption from Green Tag Policy (Resolution 445) 


RESOLUTION #445 


APPROVING AN EXEMPTION FOR NEW SOLAR HOMES FROM THE ENERGY TRUST 
GREEN TAG POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Until recently, builders have been reluctant to install solar systems as a standard 
feature on new homes, citing concerns about cost, complexity and increased financial 
risk. 


2. With heightened consumer interest and stronger solar incentive programs, a few 
builders have applied for Energy Trust incentives. 


3. To comply with the Energy Trust green tag policy, staff proposed that homebuilders 
cede ownership and potential sale of future green tags to Energy Trust and inform the 
homebuyer of this transaction. Homebuilders saw this proposal as a potential 
disincentive for solar installations and it is unclear whether such an agreement would 
be valid. 


4. Exempting a limited number of new homes from the green tag policy for one year will 
allow Energy Trust to enter into and test solar in the highly significant new 
construction market while exploring other longer-term options. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.:  


1. For a period of one year, authorizes Energy Trust incentives to homebuilders for 
approximately 100 new homes constructed with eligible solar energy systems, 
exempting such systems from the Energy Trust green tag policy, and authorizing 
homeowner ownership of green tags for the life of the systems.  


2. During this same year, directs staff to explore other solutions to address homebuilder 
concerns and comply with the Energy Trust green tag policy.  


 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: John Reynolds 


Vote: In favor: 7 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 2 - Julie Hammond voted no, preferring the 
process start with ownership of green tags from the beginning. 
Alan Meyer doesn’t believe we should be investing in projects 
unless we own the green tags; staff is creative enough that it 
shouldn’t take them a year to come up with a solution.  


 


  Adopted on August 8, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


6 


East Portland Community Center solar project (Resolution 443)  


RESOLUTION #443 


APPROVING FUNDING FOR THE EPCC SOLAR PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. EPCC Solar LLC proposes 90 kW (nameplate capacity) solar photovoltaic array to be 
placed on the East Portland Community Center. The LLC consists of an outside 
investor and the Bonneville Environmental Foundation. 


2. The LLC seeks an Energy Trust incentive to pay 100% of the above-market costs of the 
solar project, $166,440. 


3. The project will encourage solar in Oregon by demonstrating that solar photovoltaic 
projects can play a key role in achieving LEED ratings in the Portland area, and 
demonstrating a financing model that other municipalities and non-profits can use to 
finance such projects.  


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
authorizes the Executive Director to negotiate and execute a contract with EPCC LLC to 
pay up to $166,440 of the above-market costs of the solar project, consistent with the 
following terms: 


1. 1. Energy Trust’s payment will be made after the system is commissioned and an 
inspection shows the project meets Energy Trust’s solar program installation standards 
and is ready for commercial operation.  


2. 2. EPCC LLC will manage the project to meet agreed construction and operation 
milestones.  


3. 3. If after the start of commercial operation, the project fails to generate at least half 
of its 92,434 kWh generation in any 12-month period, the LLC will repay a pro-rated 
portion of the Energy Trust incentive. 


 
 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0  


 


  Adopted on August 8, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Preston Michie and John Klosterman left the meeting at 1:00 pm. 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


7 


General Public Comments 
 
Michael Early, ICNU - He briefly commented on the homebuilders and green tags issue. He thought the 
problem is that builders want to market the home as green. In order to market it as green, the builder 
has to permanently transfer the tag to the homeowner. If this is their position, he did not see a solution 
coming in a year. Tom Foley said he supported staff’s proposal because he believes it will end up getting 
us more green tags in the future. Alan said he thought the situation was analogous to the desire of the 
city of Portland to be green and, to that end, to hold ownership of green tags. This is preventing them 
from working with Energy Trust. Further discussion of green tags and “being green” ensued.  
 
Margie Gardner, Executive Director, Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA). Margie Gardner presented 
her annual report on accomplishments of NEEA in Energy Trust territories. She provided background 
on her four-state organization funded by the largest utilities in the region. Energy Trust provides about 
16% of the organization’s funding. NEEA leverages regional resources to get more savings at lower cost 
than a local program could obtain on its own. Last year, NEEA provided about 25% of Energy Trust’s 
efficiency savings. She said the savings are at a peak as a result of market acceptance and changes in 
lighting. As NEEA gets out of the lighting market, savings may come down. 
 
She explained NEEA’s role in development projects for emerging markets, including small rooftop 
HVAC, 80% efficient computers, high performance schools, and efficient distribution systems. NEEA also 
puts effort into building codes and appliance standards. NEEA collaborates with local programs to 
support the exponential growth of technologies, such as lighting.  
 
Alan Meyer asked whether NEEA’s budget is broken out by sector, and whether it reflects the amount 
of funding by sector coming in from Energy Trust? Margie said yes, but funding to each sector does not 
precisely match revenue from each sector. Spending levels are intended to be roughly proportional, and 
only on a five-year average, not year-to-year. Alan noted Energy Trust contributes more in commercial 
than the other sectors but doesn’t get a commensurate return. Margie said she believes in the next five 
years commercial and industrial will claim a higher share of savings. She noted as an example of 
technology development projects a mini-split heat pump system that will provide benefit in the  
residential market in the next few years. John Reynolds asked what NEEA is doing with LED lighting? 
Margie said USDOE is investing a lot in this; NEEA is tracking and monitoring and may have a role for 
general use lighting LEDs when the technology is ready for the mass market.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer asked about plans to change NEEA’s board structure. She said the board has 
preliminarily decided to reduce its size from 28 to 14, including 11 funders. The largest financial 
contributors will have permanent seats; smaller contributors will rotate membership. The other slots 
will rotate among state energy departments and public utility commissions.  
 
Margie Harris thanked Margie Gardner and noted their staffs work well together. She also 
acknowledged Fred for his service on the NEEA board and committees.  
 
Bill Nesmith arrived at 1:15pm during Margie Gardner’s presentation.  
 
 
Break 
The board took a 15 minute break at 1:30 pm. 
 
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


8 


President’s Report 
 
Bill Nesmith was out of the room. 
 
Tom Foley said he participated in a forum on energy efficiency and demand response in Chicago. He said 
there is a proposed measure to require all utilities to implement demand response programs.  
 
Tom described a meeting he asked staff to arrange on August 17 to listen to a company called Air 
Advice and discuss several products in development. BPA and The New Buildings Institute will 
participate in addition to Energy Trust.  
 
 
Finance Committee 
 
Debbie Kitchin introduced finance reports under tab 2. The committee last met in June. She said 
expenditures are running a bit under budget, while revenues are coming in a bit higher. Sue reviewed 
incentive forecasts for year end. Sue noted only incentive expenditures were forecasted at this time, 
because we just rebudgeted in March. She said our forecast is a little below budget, but not significantly 
so. Budget is $38.3 million; forecast spending is $36.9 million.  
 
Alan noted the report shows spending $2-3 million per month until December, for which we expect to 
spend $16 million.  
 
Debbie thought it interesting to note where we are over and where under in our spending. She will 
monitor this through the year.  
 
Sue and Margie noted explanations for budget variances included in the finance report.  
 
 
Audit Committee 
 
Julie Hammond said the audit committee met today and reviewed the conflict of interest documents 
submitted by all board members. They did not see anything that caused any concern or alarm. They also 
asked John Volkman if he saw any threats to Energy Trust on the legal side; nothing needed particular 
attention. The committee is creating a self-evaluation tool for the board to complete, and will arrange 
education and training opportunities based upon board feedback.  
 
 
Policy Committee 
 
Jason Eisdorfer said the policy committee met in May and July, and jointly with the strategic planning 
committee a couple weeks ago. The recent meetings have been dominated by a couple of issues: 
whether to provide services to Cascade Natural Gas in Washington, and whether to move the 
Production Efficiency program in-house. These will be covered by staff later in the meeting.  
 
Regarding the definition and interpretation of the new “constructing and operating” renewables language 
in SB 838, Jason said an opinion from the state Attorney General is expected next week or the week 
after.  
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


9 


Julie Hammond observed the green tag issue keeps hanging us up. The board needs to come to terms 
with this and give direction to staff. Obviously RAC had problems too. Tom said there is no one fix 
policy that works in every situation. The policy needs to remain flexible. Alan Meyer thought we would 
be getting additional guidance from the OPUC. Tom said we continue to seek and get advice from 
OPUC, such as we did for the item on the agenda today. Alan suggested requesting fundamental 
guidance from OPUC. With SB 838, utilities must own green tags to comply with the renewable energy 
standards. Tom thought the OPUC, the utilities and the board want us to maximize the number of 
green tags we get. Having an inflexible policy that requires us to own all green tags from a project may 
result in our getting less than the maximum possible number of tags. Could the utility and Energy Trust 
share green tag ownership? Jason said he thought rulemaking for SB 838 will take a year to complete. 
For the smaller scale stuff, he thought it would be hard to have a single policy. A strict “we get the tags” 
policy could cut off an entire technology.  
 
Bill Nesmith returned to the meeting at 2:15 pm during the Green Tag Policy discussion. 
 
Julie thought we should advise the OPUC about the direction we would like to go and why, rather than 
seeking direction from them. Jason thought the discussion would never stop. The Commission does not 
yet know the boundaries.  
 
Peter noted green tags are a policy creation. We are going to have to figure out a language to explain 
them to people. We are working on it.  
 
 
Program Evaluation Committee 
 
Debbie Kitchin said the committee had a couple of meetings since the last report. One meeting was 
devoted to free riders – our net-to-gross methodology. At the meeting after that, we reviewed a couple 
of evaluations and the trade ally survey. She noted the packet contains an executive summary of the 
trade ally plan as well as a staff report and plan responding to the survey results.  
 
Tom Foley said he is troubled by the fact that forms are still a problem. He mentioned that 25% of trade 
allies are not informed about state tax credits, and the fact that some trade allies are unfamiliar with the 
reservation system. He asked Bill Nesmith how ODOE markets the tax credits; Bill responded that 
ODOE approaches this strategically. Margie noted half or more of trade allies serve the residential 
sector; many residential measures are not eligible for tax credits and that many residential trade allies do 
not need to participate in the reservation system. Regarding forms, Margie said there is an initiative 
underway to make forms electronic, so that data for state tax credits and Energy Trust incentives could 
populate a single form and be entered only once. Both legal and technological issues are now being 
explored. That said, Margie added we will continually need to educate and inform trade allies.  
 
 
Strategic Planning Committee 
 
Rick noted at the strategic planning workshop some members raised the question of whether Energy 
Trust is overly Portland-centric. As a follow-up, Jan Schaeffer prepared a series of maps and lists 
showing considerable activity outside Portland. Board members discussed map number 1, incentives per 
capita; wondering why spending per capita is low in the mid-Willamette Valley and robust in southern 
Oregon. Fred Gordon said there are many factors involved, including 1) opportunities such as aging pulp 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


10 


mills in southern Oregon, 2) gas-only opportunities in Eugene and Lane County, 3) relatively large 
projects in areas of low population and other considerations.  
 
The board changed the agenda to discuss Cascade Natural Gas while Christine Kautzman was available via 
teleconference. This portion of the meeting is reported under Energy Efficiency for clarity. The board then 
resumed the Strategic Planning Committee report. 
 
Jason asked if we are doing all we can to reduce pages for clippings in the board packet? Jan noted board 
members have been asked in the past whether they preferred to discontinue copying clippings; 
responses conflicted, so we continue copying them. Margie suggested condensing utility inserts together 
on a single page as we do ads.  
 
 
Legislative Update 
 
Jason said SB 994, a late session budget bill, included $4.6 million from PGE public purpose money to 
help pay down an OMSI loan from ODOE. A diverse group of stakeholders, including large customers, 
AOI, PGE, customer groups, LOC and others, objected. They sent a letter to the governor expressing 
concern about the legality of this step. The group then met to identify ways to pay down OMSI’s debt 
without tapping public purpose funds. On July 30 the governor listed the section of this bill on a list of 
possible vetoes. He has until midnight tomorrow to act and is expected to indicate his decision 
tomorrow morning. Bill Nesmith said the situation involving OMSI is a loser for everybody and a 
solution has to be found.  
 
 
Energy Efficiency Program 
 
Cascade Natural Gas – Washington. Christine Kautzman from Cascade Natural Gas joined by telephone 
conference for this item. Margie noted we have completed a study evaluating the advisability of Energy 
Trust expanding into Washington State to serve residential and commercial customers in Cascade's 
service territory. She expressed appreciation to staff and Quantec for preparing the study. The study is 
very thorough and helpful. Margie said she does not recommend expanding into Cascade’s Washington 
territory at this time. She believes that we need to focus our attention on changes created by SB 838. In 
addition, there was a lack of support for expansion by stakeholders in both Washington and Oregon, 
primarily because of SB 838 priorities and a desire for Cascade to develop its long-term capacity for 
program delivery. Margie said we have offered interim support to Cascade, which will go forward in a 
competitive process depending on the outcome of Christine’s discussions with the Washington Utilities 
and Transportation Commission. Cascade found the report valuable; it helped them gain a sense of what 
they need to do to manage the programs.  
 
Christine said Cascade is disappointed and understands Energy Trust has been given an increased 
workload. Cascade is moving forward with plan B. The study is a good tool for Cascade to leverage. She 
hopes in the future to work with Energy Trust in Washington.  
 
Tom Foley, followed by Jason Eisdorfer, expressed disappointment that this decision had to be made. 
Jason noted we can use this to educate our own state and legislature about the demand for Energy 
Trust’s participation and interest in Energy Trust’s model. Rick Applegate said he had hoped we could 
find a way to get into this. He understands the workload we face but hopes down the road we can take 
what has become a very valuable institution here in Oregon to serve needs elsewhere. Tom noted that, 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


11 


notwithstanding the regret, not expanding to Washington is the right decision given current 
circumstances, and other members agreed. Tom and Margie thanked Christine for calling in.  
 
Bill Nesmith left the meeting. 
 
Production Efficiency program delivery. Margie Harris introduced the proposal. Elaine Prause summarized 
reasons supporting a change in the delivery model for the Production Efficiency program: opportunity to 
create more efficient management, to establish more effective communications and to build long-term 
relationships with larger customers who bring repeat business with large savings. She said surveys of 
medium-sized industrial participants show that 75% were unaware of the current structure. They were 
concerned only that incentives remain available to them and that they can continue to work with our 
Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs). The remaining 25% are aware of the management structure and 
do support creating a closer link to Energy Trust. Elaine noted she has talked with two strong 
candidates for a technical manager position.  
 
John Reynolds said many of the reasons she raised could be applied to other programs. He asked what 
one other program is closest to Production Efficiency and could benefit from such a change? Steve Lacey 
said New Buildings comes closest but would require considerably more staff and does not benefit as 
much from relationship building. Julie Hammond recalled at the June meeting talking about whether to 
bring the program in-house. Margie said Production Efficiency is the only program with both PMC and 
PDCs, and Allied Technical Assistance Contractors (ATACs). It is the only program she would 
recommend bringing in house. This change will also strengthen Energy Trust’s ability to directly 
communicate with and manage PDCs and ATACs. Steve added this is the only program the Program 
Delivery Model evaluation singled out to recommend bringing in-house on a pilot basis.  
 
Steve said the proposal would be budget-neutral on an ongoing basis. Staff would like to hire a technical 
manager this fall to assist in making a seamless transition. Lockheed Martin’s Production Efficiency 
services would terminate when their current contract expires at the end of the year.  
 
Alan Meyer said he generally supports the proposal, especially because Energy Trust staff will gain a 
better understanding of the needs of the industrial sector. He thought it is important for the technical 
manager to have a background in industry rather than nonprofit energy program management. Debbie 
agreed.  
 
Tom Foley supported the proposal. He thought it had been vetted enough. No one made the case that 
it was a bad idea. The change does not require board action. Aaron Wines, Lockheed Martin, said the 
company would continue supporting the program in any way, shape or form.  
 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
Renewable energy strategic goals discussion. John Reynolds introduced the topic, which was raised by the 
fact that SB 838 takes Energy Trust out of the utility-scale market. John said the clear effect will be to 
reduce the number of megawatts Energy Trust can develop, and increase the price of projects. Peter 
West said he would describe his proposed approach, and asked for feedback. He said we think we can 
acquire approximately 19.7 aMW cumulatively by the end of 2008, of which 14 aMW would come from 
Warm Springs. Because installed costs have increased 20-50% for biomass and wind, and because of 
continued lack of availability of equipment, we estimated the low end of the range of potential 
generation to be about what we obtain now from smaller-scale generation, or 3.28 aMW/year. At the 
other end of the range, assuming increased capacity and supply, we could obtain approximately 5 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


12 


aMW/year. By 2016, Peter forecasted 30 aMW on the low end and 50 aMW on the high end. SB 838 
says 8% of renewable energy should be obtained through smaller community-scale projects; our funding 
could meet only 18-28% of this.  
 
Peter identified uncertainties. The number one factor is state and federal tax policy. Elimination of the 
federal production tax credit would raise Energy Trust costs and reduce potential results by at least 20-
35%. Differences in funding for the mix of individual programs can also change results. Changes in 
revenue forecasts will impact results. He has taken his proposal to the RAC. He asked the board if this 
approach seemed reasonable and whether there are other considerations to take into account, etc. He 
expected to propose benchmarks as part of the budget process.  
 
Debbie said she thought Peter did a good job with the sensitivity analysis. Tom expressed concern about 
whether an 80% increase in funds truly will not increase results and suggested Peter review more recent 
data before talking to the OPUC about this. Alan expressed concern at $4 million/aMW for renewables 
compared to $1 million/aMW for efficiency. Jason said any benchmark needs a big asterisk because the 
impact of changing state and federal projects could have a very large impact on the Energy Trust.  
 
Protocol for considering renewable energy demonstration projects. Peter proposed guiding principles for all 
demonstration projects. Number one: they must lead to projects. There must be a dissemination plan. 
They must follow Energy Trust’s approved above-market cost methodology. They must deliver benefits 
to Energy Trust stakeholders. We propose to consider funding projects using pre-commercial 
technology or approaches, so long as they are demonstrated in realistic conditions, not laboratories; 
demonstrate delivery of power for at least 5 years, with priority to projects delivering power over 15-
20 years; projects must be owned by stable business entities; and they must uniquely fill a clear market 
niche. We will fund demonstration projects of commercial technology not widely available in Oregon or 
not commonly used by that market segment. RAC thought these criteria were appropriate and 
sufficiently flexible for the present.  
 
Alan expressed concern about supporting projects that must deliver power, or green tags, or both. 
Peter said he meant to state the projects must deliver power and green tags, or just green tags. Julie 
noted her willingness to consider allowing nonprofits like Mosier Community School to own the green 
tags for a period. Jason said the criteria look pretty good. He thought there is a danger that the policy 
will lead us to support riskier projects. How does the board assure the projects are reasonable to 
support? Peter said the open solicitation process would require board action for projects that come 
through that program. For projects coming through other programs, staff would periodically provide the 
board with status reports so everyone would understand how the protocol was applied.  
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Architecture review recommendations. Margie introduced Greg Damon, Lynn McIntier and Chris Kradjan 
from Moss Adams, consultants who conducted the information technology architecture review. Chris 
explained Moss Adams’ capabilities and introduced his team. Greg Damon said the purpose of the study 
was to assess key business applications vs. business goals, assess the Energy Trust IT environment vs. 
that of selected peers, evaluate the IT organization and skills vs. future needs, and compare results to 
“best business practices.” He listed strengths, including strong executive leadership, many IT best 
practices in place, hard-working staff, an IT manager with excellent analytical skills who is good at 
keeping applications working, and a strong customer service ethic within department.  
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


13 


The peer review showed Energy Trust supports three primary applications (FastTrack, Great Plains, and 
Goldmine), while the peer organizations (Vermont Energy Investment Corp. and Redwood Energy) 
support two. Energy Trust has done a lot to integrate our three systems, where other organizations 
operate them on a stand-alone basis.  
 
Observations include that Energy Trust’s enterprise architecture lacks strategic planning and direction. 
Integration between applications is problematic. Many excel spreadsheets and access databases are used 
to supplement application functionality. Reporting is difficult and not readily available to users. The IT 
department operates in a reactive mode. The IT manager is tied up with data analysis work. IT strategic 
planning is not actionable or measurable.  
 
Lynn reviewed proposed strategies, including replacing Great Plains, strengthening FastTrack, 
strengthening the IT department structure by creating a layered structure and converting contractor 
positions to permanent positions to avoid excessive turnover and repeat training, and developing an IT 
strategic plan. 
 
Margie reminded the board we designed our systems prior to having a full complement of programs. 
The timing of this study is ideal as we prepare to absorb the changes created by SB 838. There is a 
manageable set of steps to take. We will review the draft with IT staff, get comments back to Moss 
Adams, and develop priorities, a work plan and schedule. Study priorities will show up in the budget 
over time.  
 
Tom asked if changes of this scale can be absorbed without destroying the organization? Lynn and Linda 
Rudawitz said from their experience this can be done, with advance planning and organization. Debbie 
Kitchin appreciates the high-level strategic analysis. Julie concurred.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer left the meeting at 4:50 pm. 
 
Feature presentation by Business Energy Solutions, Greg Stiles, Sr. Business Sector Manager. This was deferred 
to the next board meeting, when more members are expected to be present.  
 
Highlights of staff report. Margie noted Conservation Services Group (CSG) was again chosen as our 
Program Management Contractor for the Home Energy Solutions program. They were the only 
proposer. She noted CSG has done a terrific job and would have been stiff competition for anyone else. 
She has noticed increasing requests for her to present the Energy Trust model to other organizations 
and states. She asks for her travel and accommodations to be paid for by the meeting sponsors. She 
made note of the move by the Oregon wine industry to go carbon neutral. She noted we have finalized 
Blue Heron’s final estimated savings, reduced to 70% of original estimates due to foreign markets 
overbidding the waste paper market. She mentioned use of the “flip model” for solar projects. She 
noted 350 people attended solar workshops held during the May-August reporting period. She said we 
have posted an on-line survey of residential customers. She said the town of Independence is exploring 
pursuing a community-based program with the Energy Trust and NW Natural. We received $550,000 in 
conservation rate credits from PGE. We conducted a salary survey with the MBL group in concert with 
NEEA. We also did our annual employee survey; she cited some highlights.  
 
John Reynolds asked what happened July 18 when our telephones and email both went down. Linda 
Rudawitz said the telephone failure resulted from errors by a repair person. The email crash was 
unrelated and was triggered by a glitch in the system.  
 
 







Discussion Minutes  August 8, 2007 


14 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 5:17 pm 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, October 3, 2007, 12:00 noon at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th 
Floor, Portland, Oregon. The meeting is open to the public. 
 








 


 
Board Decision 
Contribution to Supplemental Employee 
Retirement Plan 
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
This action would approve a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan ("SERP") contribution for 
the benefit of the Energy Trust executive director.  


Background 
• The Executive Director Review Committee (John Reynolds, chair, Julie Hammond and 


Tom Foley, ex officio) has reviewed an independent compensation review which 
indicates that the Executive Director's current salary is well below salary levels for 
comparable positions.  


• The Committee recommends that the board approve a contribution of $_____ to the 
SERP for the executive director's benefit, and that the board consider this matter on the 
consent agenda at this meeting.    


Recommendation 
The Executive Director Review Committee  recommends that the board approve the following 
resolution:


RESOLUTION #448 


AUTHORIZING A CONTRIBUTION TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
SUPPLEMENTAL EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN FOR THE BENEFIT 


OF MARGIE HARRIS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 


WHEREAS:  


The Energy Trust's Executive Director Evaluation Committee has 
completed its review of an independent salary survey indicating that the 
executive director's current salary is well below salary for comparable 
positions. The committee recommends that the board approve a $____ 
contribution to the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan for the 
executive director's benefit. 


 







Contribution to SERP  October 3, 2007 


2 


It is RESOLVED: 


 That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes a 
$_____ contribution to the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Supplemental 
Employee Retirement Plan, for the benefit of Margie Harris, executive 
director. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 
 
Board Decision 
Amending Contract Execution Policy  
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
 


Amend the contract execution policy to allow department directors or their management-level 
designees to: (1) authorize program incentive payments involving less than $500,000 if they are 
processed in accordance with standardized program forms and procedures and subject to Energy 
Trust accounting and financial controls; and (2) sign agreements not involving a dollar expenditure. 


 
Background 
 


• Under the contract execution policy (see below), the executive director is authorized to sign 
contracts involving less than $500,000. Contracts involving more than $500,000 require board 
approval of basic terms. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by 
department directors. 


• For programs administered by program management contractors (PMCs), the executive 
director signs a contract with the PMC, typically subject to board approval of the contract’s 
basic terms.  


• Once the contract is signed, incentive payments are authorized by approved PMC personnel. 
These payments are processed using standardized forms that have been developed by Energy 
Trust staff and the Energy Trust legal department. 


• Once incentive payments are authorized by PMC personnel, checks are signed by authorized 
Energy Trust signatories. All expenditures are subject to the Energy Trust finance department’s 
system of internal controls, audits, etc. 


• In addition, the current policy authorizes department directors to sign agreements not involving 
a dollar expenditure. 


 
Analysis 
 


• With the transition of programs in-house, such as the production efficiency (PE) program, 
responsibility to approve incentives moves to Energy Trust. Approval of an incentive application 
is the equivalent of a contract, and so the contract execution policy applies.  


• Under current policy, the executive director would have to sign incentive agreements. This 
requirement could become a barrier to project initiation or cause delays compared to the 
current PMC procedure.  


• Most contracts not involving dollar expenditures are confidentiality agreements in which specific 
staff are allowed to review confidential information if they agree not to disclose it. These 
agreements often apply to the individual staff member who is given access to the information, 
not to department directors or Energy Trust as an organization. 


 
 







Amending Contract Execution Policy  October 3, 2007 


Recommendation 
 


• Amend the contract policy so that: (1) for programs administered in-house, incentive 
agreements involving less than $500,000, which are processed in accordance with standardized 
program forms and procedures that have been reviewed by the legal department, may be 
approved by the relevant department director or management-level staff designated by the 
department director; and (2) department directors may authorize managers to sign agreements 
not involving dollar expenditures. 


 


RESOLUTION #449 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
CONTRACT EXECUTION POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. For Energy Trust programs administered by program management 
contractors (PMCs), the executive director signs a contract with the 
PMC, typically subject to board approval of the contract’s basic terms.  


2. Once a program management contract is signed, incentive payments are 
authorized by approved PMC personnel. These payments are processed 
using standardized forms that have been developed by Energy Trust staff 
and the Energy Trust legal department. 


3. Once incentive payments are authorized by PMC personnel, checks are 
signed by authorized Energy Trust signatories. All expenditures are 
subject to the Energy Trust finance department’s system of internal 
controls, audits, etc. 


4. With the transition of the production efficiency (PE) program in-house 
and responsibility to approve incentives to Energy Trust, Energy Trust’s 
current contract execution policy would require incentive payments to 
be signed by the executive director. This process could become a barrier 
to project initiation or cause delays compared to the current PMC 
procedure. 


5. In addition, current policy authorizes department directors to sign 
agreements not involving a dollar expenditure. Most contracts not 
involving dollar expenditures are confidentiality agreements in which 
specific staff are allowed to review confidential information if they agree 
not to disclose it. These agreements often apply to the individual staff 
member who is given access to the information, not to department 
directors or Energy Trust as an organization 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc.:  amends the Energy Trust contract execution policy as follows:  


 
 
 
 







Amending Contract Execution Policy  October 3, 2007 


 
Contract Execution and Oversight Policy  
 
Purpose:  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the Executive Director authority to execute all 
contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. This 
policy regulates the implementation of this authority. 
 
Policy: 
1. All contracts shall be consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. 
 
2. The Energy Trust legal department shall review as to form all contracts before submitting them 


to the Executive Director. 
 
3. Contracts over the amount of $500,000:   


• No contract will be executed unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and approved 
its basic terms.  


• When it approves basic contract terms, the Board may instruct the Executive Director to 
bring a final contract back to the Board for review and approval before the contract is 
executed. 


• The Executive Director shall not execute contract amendments that make major changes in 
contract terms (e.g., more than 10% change in funds obligated, more than 20% change in 
energy saved or produced, time by which savings will be achieved) unless the Board of 
Directors has first reviewed and approved the basic terms of the change. 


 
4. Contracts under $500,000:  The Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is 
 unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the Executive 
 Director, is authorized to execute contracts involving less than $500,000 without Board 
 review or approval of basic terms. 


 
5. For programs managed directly by Energy Trust staff, incentive agreements that involve less than 


$500,000, and are processed in accordance with standardized program forms and procedures 
that have been reviewed by the legal department may be approved by the relevant department 
director or management-level staff designated by the department director.  
 


6. Personnel contracts and agreements:  The Executive Director or, if the Executive 
 Director is unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the 
 Executive Director, may execute personnel contracts or contracts for personal or 
 professional services without Board review or approval of basic terms. 
 
7. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by the relevant director or his/her 


designated manager(s). 
 
8. The Executive Director shall maintain contract records required for an independent  audit. 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR New 
Homes Therm Goal Reduction 
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
Amend Energy Trust’s agreement with Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. (PECI) for the 
Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR New Homes and Products program to adjust and 
reduce the natural gas goal in recognition of the slowdown in the new construction market. 


Background 
• The current best case gas goal for the Home Energy Solutions/ENERGY STAR New 


Homes and Products program is 611,820 annual therms at a levelized cost of 
0.25/therm. This goal was premised on prior real estate market experience and 
expected performance. 


• In the time since contract execution, the new homes market has fallen sharply 
throughout the state, with the single exception of southern Oregon. Reasons driving 
this real estate market decline include the collapse of the sub-prime loan market and 
other factors beyond the control of PECI and Energy Trust or our mutual hopes and 
expectations. Examples include: 


o The number of new home construction permits are down by 16% in Eugene and 
Salem, 18% in the Portland area and 41% in Bend/Redmond 


o The amount of time homes remain for sale on the market has increased 57% (to 
105 days) in Marion and Polk counties, and 45% (to 175 days) in Bend/Redmond 


o Local home builder statistics from the year prior to June 2006 compared to year 
ending June 2007 are comparable: Renaissance Homes permits have dropped 34% 
(from 367 to 243); New Tradition Homes permits have dropped 57% (from 185 
to 79); DR Horton permits have dropped 69% (from 703 to 215); West Hills 
Development permits have dropped 73% (from 863 to 236); Ryan Olson Homes 
declared bankruptcy in January and has stopped certifying ENERGY STAR homes 


• In addition, the multifamily program was delayed six months in anticipation of EPA 
approval of new multifamily measures 


• Despite market conditions, PECI has maintained last year’s impressive ENERGY STAR 
market penetration of 8.5% during this current period of market downturn 


• Although the program has retained and even achieved a slight growth in the market 
share of ENERGY STAR homes, the decline in the Oregon's new construction market 
overshadows the program and competes with its ability to achieve the 2007 gas 
savings goals 







Therm Goal Reduction for ENERGY STAR New Homes                                             October 3, 2007 


 


Page 2 of 3 


 


Discussion 
• The current Energy Trust/PECI contract best case gas goal is 611,820 annual therms 


and the conservative case goal is 458,865 annual therms 


• These goals correspond to three combined program elements that are part of the 
PECI contract: home products, manufactured homes, and new home construction 


• Energy Trust adjustment of the current therm goals would acknowledge market 
factors beyond PECI control and avoid contract penalties PECI would otherwise face 
for a shortfall in goal achievement 


• Given the 34% to 73% decline in new construction permits among participating 
builders this year, Energy Trust proposes to adjust and reduce the therm goal for 
single-family and stand-alone incentives by 50% as follows: 


Current new homes goal of 527,340 annual therms X 50% = 263,670 annual therm 
adjustment 


• In addition, given and the six-month delay experienced in EPA approval for new 
multifamily program measures, Energy Trust proposes to also reduce the multifamily 
gas goal by 50% as follows: 


Current multifamily goal of 6,660 annual therms X 50%= 3330 annual therm 
adjustment 


• With the above 267,000 total annual therm adjustment to the new homes portion of 
the goal, the overall program best case gas goals would drop from 611,820 to 344,820 
annual therms. The conservative case goals (75% of the best case goals) would drop 
from 458,865 to 258,615 annual therms. 


• The levelized cost for the program would increase from $.25/therm to $.45/therm, 
still an acceptable level of cost and close to the PUC gas performance measure of $.40 


Recommendation 
Approve the recommended adjustments to the annual therm goal by adopting resolution #451 
below. 


 


RESOLUTION #451 


ANNUAL THERM GOAL REDUCTION ADJUSTMENT AND ADJUSTMENT 
FOR ENERGY STAR NEW HOMES PROGRAM AND PECI CONTRACT 


 WHEREAS: 
 


1. Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. (PECI)  is the program 
management contractor for the Energy Trust Home Energy 
Solutions/ENERGY STAR Homes and Products program 
(“program”).  


 
2. The total best case contract annual therm goal for the 


current agreement between Energy Trust and PECI is 
611,820 annual therms with a levelized cost of .25/therm.  







Therm Goal Reduction for ENERGY STAR New Homes                                             October 3, 2007 


 


Page 3 of 3 


 
3. Since the contract was signed, the new homes market has 


fallen sharply throughout much of Oregon, driven by the 
decline of the real estate market, the collapse of the sub-
prime loan market, and other factors. Although the program 
is retaining an impressive market share of ENERGY STAR 
homes, it cannot realistically be expected to achieve the 
current annual therm savings goals for reasons beyond 
control of PECI or Energy Trust. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Energy Trust board of directors approves amending 


the January 1, 2007, program management contract by 
adjusting the best-case gas goal to 344,820 annual therms 
with a new levelized cost of $.45/therm. The conservative 
case will adjust proportionately to 258,615 annual therms at 
$.59/therm levelized cost. 


 
2.  The executive director is authorized to sign a contract 


amendment consistent with this resolution. 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
 
 
 
Board Decision 
Approve Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 
Program Management Contract 
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
To approve the basic terms of a three-year contract with Lockheed Martin to provide program 
management services for the Energy Trust Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings Program. 


Background 
• The Existing Buildings Program acquires cost-effective electric and natural gas savings by 


providing technical assistance and financial incentives for high-efficiency equipment and energy 
efficient operating practices in existing commercial facilities. 


• Lockheed Martin was approved as the first Program Management Contractor (PMC) for the 
Existing Buildings Program in November 2002. In 2005, the program management contract was 
competitively re-bid, and Lockheed Martin was again chosen. 


• In August 2007, the program management contract was competively re-bid again. Three 
companies submitted an Intent to Respond. Two additional companies formally contacted 
Energy Trust to say they would not be bidding on the contract. Two bidders submitted 
proposals.  


• A selection committee comprised of Energy Trust, Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance and 
Clark Public Utility District representatives reviewed the proposals, qualified the proposers as 
finalists, and interviewed both bidders on August 15 and 16, 2007. The committee selected 
Lockheed Martin. The selection process is further explained in Appendix II.  


Discussion 
• The proposed contract will cover a three-year period from January 2008, through December 


2010, with an option to renew for an additional year up to two years. Energy Trust contracts 
involving the expenditure of funds over more than a two-year period require notice to the 
OPUC unless the contract may be terminated concurrently with termination of the OPUC-
Energy Trust grant agreement. This contract will be terminable at will, and so requires no notice 
to the OPUC.    


• For purposes of preliminary negotiations, staff has assumed a first-year program budget of 
approximately $5,928,000. This includes a first-year contract cost of about $1,121,000, 
incentives of about $2,907,000 ($1,973,000 electric, $934,000 gas), and Energy Trust staffing and 
support expenses of $1,900,000. The actual budget and costs hinge on the adopted annual 
budget and action plan decisions to be made by the Energy Trust board in December of this 
year. 







Resolution 450 Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program Contract Approval          October 3, 2007 
 


2 


• Contract amounts for each contract year will be renegotiated annually based on the board-
adopted annual budget and action plan. Each year, following board approval of a budget and 
action plan, Energy Trust staff and the PMC will negotiate contract amendments for the next 
year's contract goals and budget to conform with the board-approved budget and action plan. 
The resulting contract amendments would be signed by the executive director without further 
board action. 


• Energy Trust expects work performed under this contract could save as much as 2.3 aMW (best 
case) at a cost of approximately $1.9 million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 per kWh.  
Gas savings are expected to be as much as 460,000 therms (best case) at a cost of $3.80 per 
annual therm and a levelized cost per unit of $0.37 per therm. Actual savings, cost per kWh, 
therm and contract costs will hinge on future board approval of the annual budget and action 
plans. 


• The above amounts do not include Renewable Energy Act (SB 838) funding. 


• The contract will refer to expected program incentive costs and does not include these costs in 
PMC contract payments. Program incentive amounts will also be included and reviewed in the 
annual budgeting process and ensuing contract amendments.  


• Once the budget and energy savings goals are finalized the program will be reviewed using the 
societal benefit/cost analysis. It is expected the program will pass the benefit/cost test.  


  


Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of Resolution #450 to approve a new contract with Lockheed Martin to 
manage the Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings Program.  


 


RESOLUTION #450 


APPROVE BASIC TERMS OF A CONTRACT WITH LOCKHEED MARTIN 
TO MANAGE BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS - EXISTING BUILDINGS 


PROGRAM  


WHEREAS: 
 


1. The current Energy Trust contract with its Existing Buildings program 
management contractor terminates December 31, 2007. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, staff has 
conducted a fair and open procurement process to select a contractor to 
manage the program for the next 3-5 years.  


3. Lockheed Martin has been selected through this process and proposed 
contract terms are in the process of being negotiated.   


4. Staff has assumed a first-year budget of approximately $5,928,000 for this 
program. This includes a first-year delivery contract cost of about 
$1,121,000 and incentives of $2,907,000.   


5. Savings could be as much as 2.3 aMW (best case) at a cost of 
approximately $1.9 million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 cents 







Resolution 450 Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program Contract Approval          October 3, 2007 
 


3 


per kWh. Gas savings could be as much as 460,000 therms (best case) at 
a cost of $3.80 per annual therm and a levelized cost per unit of $0.37 per 
therm. 


6. The above numbers are based on assumptions. Actual savings and costs 
will be reviewed by the Energy Trust board as part of the annual budget 
and action plan decisions.  


 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. Subject to later board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings 
numbers, the board authorizes a contract with Lockheed Martin to 
manage the Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings Program from 
January 1, 2008, through December 31, 2010. Provided Lockheed Martin 
meets certain established performance criteria in the final contract, the 
contract may be extended for up to an additional two years. 


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals will be included in the contract 
consistent with the board-approved 2008 action plan and budget.  
Thereafter, the contract may be amended annually following board 
approval of subsequent annual action plans and budgets.   


3. The executive director is authorized to sign an initial contract and any 
contract amendments consistent with this resolution and board-
approved action plans and budgets.  


4. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds 
among categories within the program budget as long as such reallocation 
is consistent with the board-approved annual budget and action plan 
decisions.  


5. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2010, staff will 
report to the board on Lockheed Martin's progress and staff's 
recommendation whether to extend the contract for up to two years. 
See Appendix II for extension criteria. Contract terms for the extension 
period would remain as approved in the most recent action plans, 
budgets and contract at the time of the extension. Absent board 
objection to extending the contract, the executive director is authorized 
to sign the contract extension.  


 
Moved by:   Seconded by:       


 
Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 
 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 







Resolution 450 Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program Contract Approval          October 3, 2007 
 


4 


 
 


APPENDIX I 
 
Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program 
Management Contractor Selection 
October 3, 2007 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon follows a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Proposal (RFP) process.  
 
Three organizations submitted an intent to respond form for the program RFP but only two submitted a proposal: 
Nexant and Lockheed Martin. Two additional companies interested in the contract formally contacted Energy 
Trust to say they would not be bidding on the contract at this time.  The process was led by an RFP review team 
consisting of five individuals -- three Energy Trust representatives, one member from the Northwest Energy 
Efficiency Alliance and one member from the Clark Public Utilities. In addition, a representative from the Energy 
Trust legal, finance and marketing departments reviewed the proposals and participated in the interviews. The 
review team considered, evaluated and numerically scored the proposal on three overall major factors:  
 


1. Proposal strength (40%) – Including such factors as ability to achieve a large volume of cost-effective 
energy savings; expanding program offerings; marketing outreach approach; and quality control. 


2. Management strength (30%) – Including such factors as proposed management, program design, 
implementation and operations team members; coordination with existing programs; marketing and 
outreach; incentive processing; customer service; and technical knowledge. 


3. Price proposal (30%) – Including overall budget; total program management and staffing costs; incentive 
amounts; budget management; and overall specificity and measurability of costs compared to tasks. 


 
Based on this review both Nexant and Lockheed Martin became finalists. The review team conducted an extensive 
2-hour interview with Nexant and Lockheed Martin on August 15 and 16, 2007.  Lockheed Martin presented and 
scored well, with an overall score of 3.67 out of a total of 5.  Lockheed Martin was selected to become the 
program management contractor, pending approval of contract terms by the Board of Directors. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics of Lockheed Martin’s Proposal 
 


1. Overall responsiveness to RFP requirements 
2. Strong quality control proposal 
3. Strong marketing and market research proposal 
4. Strong approach to budget management 
5. Strong planning capabilities 
6. Superior approach to evolving and expanding program offerings  
7. Extensive team competency and technical experience designing, implementing and managing 


comprehensive programs 
8. Strong management and implementation team 
 


Lockheed Martin is a large Fortune 50 company with proven engineering, marketing and research experience in 
the aeronautics, electronic systems and information and technology services businesses.  







Resolution 450 Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Program Contract Approval          October 3, 2007 
 


5 


APPENDIX II 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon Program Management Contractor – Contract Extension 
Metrics 
October 3, 2007 
 
Contract Extension Metrics 
 


1. Cross program referrals   
a. Problems don’t arise 
b. Appreciable savings being realized in referred programs 
c. Procedure for working well with other programs that will facilitate smooth referral process 


2. Project pipeline  
a. Based on goals and available funding, balancing next year’s savings and budget targets 


3. Innovation 
a. Adding new measures  
b. Adjusting/reducing incentive levels 
c. New delivery approaches (reaching focused market sectors andor customers) 


4. Teamwork 
a. How well PMC staff works with Energy Trust staff (flexibility and responsiveness) 


5. Satisfactory execution of contract statement of work deliverables  
a. Program savings 
b. Levelized cost goals 
c. Budget management 
d. Data management 
e. Customer services 
f. Marketing 
g. Quality control 


 
 


 








 
  


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes Program 
Management Contract 
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
Approve the basic terms of a three-year contract with Conservation Services Group, Inc. (CSG) to 
provide program management services for Energy Trust's Residential Home Energy Solutions - Existing 
Homes program. 


Background 
• The Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes program (HES-EH) serves existing residential single 


family and multifamily units that are site-built or manufactured. The program provides financial 
incentives for high-efficiency equipment, energy efficiency improvements and weatherization 
installations. Training and development of a robust Trade Ally infrastructure to deliver and install 
measures to Energy Trust standards is important to this program.  


• CSG is the current Program Management Contractor (PMC) for the program and has been since 
July 2005. A two-year contract was extended for 6 months to end December 31, 2007, thereby 
aligning the program term with the Energy Trust annual budget process.  


• In spring, 2007, staff solicited bids for the next contract term. Four organizations submitted an 
intent to respond. Only CSG submitted a final proposal. 


• A selection committee comprised of Energy Trust, Environmental Protection Agency and Eugene 
Water and Electric Board representatives reviewed the proposal, qualified CSG as a finalist, and held 
an interview. CSG scored well and was selected. The selection process is further explained in 
Appendix I.  


Discussion 
• The proposed contract spans a three-year period from January 2008 through December 2010, with 


an option to renew for an additional two years. Energy Trust contracts involving the expenditure of 
funds over more than a two-year period require notice to the OPUC unless the contract may be 
terminated concurrently with termination of the OPUC-Energy Trust grant agreement. This 
contract will be terminable at will, and so requires no notice to the OPUC. 


• For purposes of preliminary negotiations, staff has assumed a first-year program budget of 
approximately $12,765,000. This includes a first-year contract cost of about $3,986,000, incentives 
of approximately $6,281,000 ($3,481,000 electric, $2,800,000 gas), and Energy Trust staffing and 
support expenses of $2,498,000. The actual budget and costs hinge on the final annual budget and 
action plan decisions to be made by the Energy Trust board in December of this year.  


• The above amounts do not include any Renewable Energy Act (SB 838) funding. 







Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes 
Program Management Contract  October 3, 2007 


2 


• Energy Trust expects that work performed under this contract could save as much as 2.37 aMW 
(best case) at a cost of approximately $3.25 million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 cents 
per kWh. Gas savings are expected to be as much as 808,961 therms (best case) at a cost of $6.26 
per annual therm and a levelized cost per unit of $0.31 per therm. Actual savings, cost per kWh, 
annual therm and contract costs will be computed based upon the final adopted annual budget and 
action plan decisions made by the Energy Trust board in December of this year. 


• As with other program managemetn contracts, actual amounts for each contract year will be 
negotiated annually based to be consistent with the board-adopted annual budget and action plan. In 
the first year of the proposed contract, Energy Trust staff would negotiate contract amounts 
consistent with the board approved 2008 budget and action plan. Each subsequent contract year, 
following board approval of a budget and action plan, Energy Trust staff and the PMC will negotiate 
contract amendments conforming to the next year's contract goals and board-approved budget and 
action plan. The resulting contract and contract amendments would be signed without further board 
action. 


• The contract will refer to expected program incentive costs and does not include these costs in 
PMC contract payments. Program incentive amounts will also be provided and reviewed as part of 
the annual budgeting process and ensuing contract amendments.  


• Staff will calculate the societal benefit/cost analysis on this program once measure savings are 
finalized. There is high confidence that the program will pass the benefit/cost test.  


 


RESOLUTION #447 


APPROVE BASIC TERMS OF A CONTRACT WITH CONSERVATION 
SERVICES GROUP TO MANAGE HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS-


EXISTING HOMES PROGRAM 


WHEREAS: 


1. The current Energy Trust contract with its Home Energy Solutions 
program Program Management Contractor (PMC) terminates 
December 31, 2007. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, 
staff has conducted a fair and open procurement process to select a 
contractor to manage the program for the next 3-5 years.  


3. Conservation Services Group, Inc. ("CSG") has been selected through 
this process and proposed contract terms are in the process of being 
negotiated.  


4. Staff has assumed a first-year budget of approximately $12,765,000 for 
this program, including a first-year delivery contract cost of 
approximately $3,986,000 and incentives of $6,281,000.  


5. Savings could be as much as 2.37 aMW (best case) at a cost of 
approximately $3.25 million per aMW and a levelized cost of $0.021 cents 
per kWh. Gas savings could be as much as 808,961 therms (best case) at 
a cost of $6.26 per annual therm and a levelized cost per unit of $0.31 per 
therm. 







Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes 
Program Management Contract  October 3, 2007 


3 


6. The above numbers are based on assumptions. Actual savings and costs 
will be determined based upon the Energy Trust board-adopted annual 
budget and action plan decisions.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. Subject to later board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings 
numbers, the board authorizes a contract with CSG to manage the 
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes program from January 1, 2008, 
through December 31, 2010. If CSG meets certain established 
performance criteria in the final contract, the contract may be extended 
for up to an additional two years. 


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals will be included in the contract 
consistent with the board-approved 2008 action plan and budget. 
Thereafter, the contract may be amended annually following board 
approval of subsequent annual action plans and budgets.  


3. The executive director is authorized to sign an initial contract and any 
contract amendments consistent with this resolution and board-
approved action plans and budgets.  


4. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds 
among categories within the program budget provided such reallocation 
is consistent with the board's annual budget and action plan decisions.  


5. Prior to extending this contract beyond December 31, 2010, staff will 
report to the board on Conservation Services Group's progress and 
staff's recommendation whether to extend the contract for up to two 
years. See Appendix II for extension criteria. Contract terms for the 
extension period would remain as approved in the most recent action 
plans, budgets and contract at the time of the extension. Absent board 
objection to extending the contract, the executive director is authorized 
to sign the contract extension.  


 
 
Moved by:   Seconded by:  


 
Vote: In favor:  Abstained: 


  
 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 







Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes 
Program Management Contract  October 3, 2007 


4 


 
APPENDIX I 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon Program Management Contractor Selection  
October 3, 2007 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon follows a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Proposal (RFP) process.  
 
Four organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFP, but only one submitted a proposal: 
Conservation Services Group (CSG). The process was led by an RFP review team consisting of five individuals -- 
three Energy Trust representatives, one member from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and one 
member from the Eugene Water and Electric Board (EWEB). In addition, a representative from the Energy Trust’s 
marketing and legal/ finance departments reviewed the proposal and participated in the interview. The review team 
considered, evaluated and numerically scored the proposal on three overall major factors:  
 


1. Proposal strength (40%) – including such factors as ability to achieve a minimum of 11,000 MWh (1.25 
aMW) of electric savings and 700,000 therms annually; expanding program offerings; marketing outreach 
approach; and quality control. 


2. Management strength (30%) – Including such factors as proposed management, program design, 
implementation and operations team members; coordination with existing programs; marketing and 
outreach; incentive processing; customer service; and technical knowledge. 


3. Price proposal (30%) – Including overall budget; total program management and staffing costs; incentive 
amounts; budget management; and overall specificity and measurability of costs compared to tasks. 


 
Based on this review CSG became a finalist. The review team conducted an extensive 2-hour interview with CSG 
on August 29, 2006. CSG presented and scored well, with an overall score of 3.79 out of a total of 5. CSG was 
unanimously selected to become the program management contractor, pending approval of contract by the Board 
of Directors. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics of CSG’s Proposal 
 


1. Overall clarity and responsiveness to RFP requirements 
2. Strong understanding of market drivers and program components 
3. Strong quality control proposal 
4. Innovative and creative marketing approaches 
5. Strong desire to incorporate solar  
6. Strong budget management 
7. Strong analysis and planning capabilities 
8. Collaborative approach to extending program via community partners 
9. Strong customer service  
10. Superior approach to evolving program offerings  
11. Extensive team competency and technical building science experience designing, implementing and 


managing comprehensive programs 
12. Amount of FTE funded with in budget parameters 
 


Conservation Services Group (CSG) is a private non-profit corporation with twenty-three years of experience in 
bringing synergy to energy efficiency and renewable energy solutions. They have extensive experience delivering 
conservation programs across the nation with innovative approaches to energy and resource efficiency. CSG has 
expertise in managing, administrating, marketing, and research pertaining to clean energy markets and 
conservation.  


 







Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes 
Program Management Contract  October 3, 2007 


2 


 
APPENDIX II 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon Program Management Contractor – Contract Extension 
Metrics 
October 3, 2007 
 
Contract Extension Metrics 
 


1. Cross program referrals   
a. Problems don’t arise 
b. Appreciable savings being realized in referred programs 
c. Procedure for working well with other programs that will facilitate smooth referral process 


2. Project pipeline  
a. Based on goals and available funding, balancing next year’s savings and budget targets 


3. Innovation 
a. Adding new measures  
b. Adjusting/reducing incentive levels 
c. New delivery approaches (reaching focused market sectors and/or customers) 


4. Teamwork 
a. How well PMC staff works with ETO staff (flexibility and responsiveness) 


5. Satisfactory execution of SOW deliverables  
a. Program savings 
b. Levelized cost goals 
c. Budget management 
d. Data management 
e. Customer services 
f. Marketing 
g. Quality control 


 
 








 
 
Board Decision 
Approving Basic Terms of an Agreement with 
ProLogis to Fund a Solar PV Project  
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
 
Approve basic terms of an agreement with ProLogis to install a total of 3.5 - 4.7 MW of solar 
photovoltaic (PV) generation on as many as 17 ProLogis buildings in Portland General Electric 
(PGE) service territory, at an Energy Trust cost of not more than $3,405,000. 
 
Background 
 


• This project results through Energy Trust’s Open Solicitation Program, requiring board 
approval of projects involving Energy Trust incentives of this scale. 


• ProLogis is the world’s largest owner, manager and developer of warehouse distribution 
facilities. The company has previously installed several large, rooftop PV systems in 
Europe, and identified at least 17 of their buildings in PGE service territory where PV 
systems could be installed. 


• The proposed solar systems would provide power directly to PGE under standard 
contract terms and rates for qualifying facilities under 10 MW. 


• Total project size will depend on final installed costs. If installed prices are favorable, the 
project could produce 4.7 MW. Moderately higher prices would yield 3.5 MW for the 
same Energy Trust funding. 


• Proposed funding would be from the unspent 2007 utility scale budget.  
• PGE supports the project, seeing it as both an opportunity to help customers employ 


more green power and an effective source of peak power. 
• The RAC and Policy Committee reviewed and voiced support for the project. 


 
Analysis 
 


• Even at the lower size of 3.5 MW, the project would be the Energy Trust’s largest single 
PV venture, exceeding the Solar Electric Program’s total installed capacity during the last 
four years.  


• Given the range of possible project scale, staff first evaluated the project at the low-end 
of 3.5 MW. Total project cost would be $25,414,850, an estimated $7.26/watt, with 
above-market costs of $3,405,000. If project costs are lower than assumed, a larger 
system of up to 4.7 MW could be built at the same incentive level. 


• Energy Trust funding of an estimated $0.97/watt would be by far the lowest ever paid 
per unit for solar. The standard incentive for commercial solar projects under the 
Energy Trust’s Solar Program is $1.50/watt. 







ProLogis Solar Project  October 3, 2007 


2 


• Over the first 20 years of operation, the clean power produced by the project will help 
avoid over 42,700 tons of CO2 emissions. It would take 140 acres of trees to sequester 
this much carbon. 


• In addition to the quantifiable benefits of the project, staff believes this project will: 
o Serve as example for large PV projects utilizing rooftops as a resources  
o Demonstrate that solar works for large commercial buildings – and in Portland 
o Help a utility manage peak resource requirements 
o Allow Energy Trust to push the boundary of what we fund for PV 


• Basic terms of the agreement: 
o ProLogis would agree to deliver a project of at least 3.5 MW 
o When bids are finalized and accepted by ProLogis, a re-calculation of above-


market costs would be done by staff to refine the estimate above 
o Energy Trust would provide a maximum of $3,405,000 
o Green tags would be delivered to PGE and held in trust by PGE for the benefit 


of ratepayers for compliance with Renewable Energy Act obligations 
 
Recommendation 
 
Approve the basic terms of an agreement with ProLogis to provide up to $3,405,000 of the 
above-market costs of a multi-installation PV project, paid for by budgeted and unspent funds in 
the 2007 utility scale budget. 
 


RESOLUTION #453 
APPROVING FUNDS FOR A SOLAR PROJECT WITH PROLOGIS 


 
WHEREAS: 


1. ProLogis proposes to install a total of 3.5 - 4.7 MW of solar 
photovoltaic (PV) generation on as many as 17 ProLogis buildings in 
the Portland General Electric (PGE) service territory. 


2. The above-market costs of the project are estimated to be 
$3,405,000 or less.  


3. Even at the low end, the project would be the Energy Trust’s largest 
single PV venture, exceeding the Solar Electric Program’s total 
installed capacity during the last four years. 


4. Energy Trust funding of an estimated $0.97/watt would be by far the 
lowest it has ever paid per unit for solar. In comparison, the 
standard incentive program provides $1.50/watt.  


5. Over the first 20 years of operation, the clean power produced by 
the project will help avoid over 42,700 tons of CO2 emissions. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust 
of Oregon, Inc. approves an agreement with ProLogis consistent with 
the following basic terms:  


1. ProLogis will deliver a project of at least 3.5 MW. 


2. When bids are finalized and accepted by ProLogis, staff will re-
calculate above-market costs. 







ProLogis Solar Project  October 3, 2007 


3 


3. Energy Trust will provide a maximum of $3,405,000. 


4. Green tags will be delivered to PGE and held in trust by PGE for the 
benefit of ratepayers for compliance with Renewable Energy Act 
obligations.  


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 
 








 


 


 
Board Decision 
Authorizing New Staff Positions  
October 3, 2007 


Summary 
 
Authorize the executive director to establish and fill four new staff positions. 
 
Background 


• The Energy Trust 2007-2012 strategic plan and operations plan place a high priority 
emphasis and focus on streamlining information technology (IT) systems, budget 
processes and program management to enhance flexibility and customer service to staff, 
system users and program participants. 


• In 2007, Energy Trust retained Moss Adams to review its core Energy Trust IT and 
budget functions. Moss Adams recommended a number of specific improvements, 
including changes to the organization and structure of the IT department. Moss Adams 
findings specified that: 


o The IT department requires more strategic planning and direction than is possible in 
the current structure, in which the existing IT manager position is needed to 
respond to a large variety of day-to-day operations and data analysis requirements;  


o Energy Trust’s practice of performing ongoing and essential IT operating functions 
with contractors instead of permanent staff has resulted in predictable and excessive 
turnover, disrupting work flow, efficiency, effectiveness and service capabilities of 
key IT functions. This practice has also required the IT manager to devote 
important time to recruitment, hiring and training of new consultants at the expense 
of effective and stable IT department planning, management and consistent service. 


o Minimum wage, overtime, workers compensation, employee tax, and employment 
civil rights laws and regulations, among other types of employee laws and 
regulations, do not apply to independent contractors. Agencies that enforce 
employment laws recognize that some employers seek to avoid the costs and 
responsibilities associated with employees by calling some workers “independent 
contractors.”  In enforcing these areas of the law, governmental agencies do not rely 
on the label “independent contractor” but are required to take a close look at the 
realities of the relationships. If examined, there is a risk that individuals who 
 perform ongoing and essential IT operating functions would be considered 
“employees” rather than “independent contractors,” thereby subjecting Energy 
Trust to possible enforcement actions. 


• In addition to the proposed two IT position recommendations, Energy Trust has 
identified two other areas where new staff would significantly improve program 
management and service to program trade allies and participants, described as follows: 


o Trade Ally/Allied Technical Assistance Contractors (ATACs) Coordination - Energy 
Trust has attracted approximately 840 trade allies and over a dozen ATACs who 







Approving Four Staff Positions (R452) October 3, 2007 


 


Page 2 of 5 


geographically represent the state and a diversity of trades. Energy Trust relies upon 
these individuals to market programs and incentives and to deliver services to 
customers. To be optimally effective, trade allies and ATACs depend upon Energy 
Trust to provide accurate and timely program and marketing information, training 
and support. Along with the growth in the number of trade allies, Energy Trust is 
moving toward a registration system for trade allies to demonstrate certification as 
a participating Energy Trust contractor. This new trade ally/ATAC coordinator will 
regularly enroll trade allies and ATACS in this new system, verify insurance 
certificates and licenses, and support trade ally event planning and logistics. In 
addition, the individual would assist in the development and implementation of 
ATAC contracts to serve the growing number of program participants. 


o Solar account program management - Both the solar electric and solar water 
heating programs are delivered in-house by Energy Trust staff. The increased 
volume and level of program activity in 2007 has exceeded current staff capacity. 
This has resulted in delays in the launch of program initiatives and slow response 
time to participant and trade ally questions and service requests. As interest in and 
demand for solar energy solutions continues to dramatically grow among utilities, 
solar project developers and individual business and residential customers, more 
staff help is warranted to serve the increased volume of activity. This is true now 
and especially true in light of Renewable Energy Act implementation of solar 
projects of 20 MW or less. 


 
Discussion 
 
Staff recommends approval of four staff positions: Business Systems Analyst, IT Administrative 
Assistant, Trade Ally Coordinator and Solar Program Coordinator. A brief description of the 
role and responsibilities for each of these positions follows: 


1. As recommended by Moss Adams and endorsed by Energy Trust staff, a new Business 
Systems Analyst to:  


o Analyze program, savings, generation and financial data essential to planning, 
evaluation, program and contract management, finance, marketing, and 
administration  


o Develop and maintain program and other reports, especially for program managers 
and program management contractors to readily access the project status and 
budgetary information essential for effective and responsible management 


o Assist staff in extracting data and automating data services for both ad hoc and 
scheduled tasks such as quarterly report automation, annual report automation, 
annual true-up calculations 


o Strengthen data quality and integrity and assist auditing efforts with the tracing and 
analysis of confusing or anomalous data entries 


o Perform application testing and deployment tasks in support of FastTrack 
enhancements and new, upgraded or replacement software for contacts, contracts, 
or finance applications 


o Perform a number of functions now addressed by the IT manager, thereby freeing 
her to place appropriate emphasis on strategic activities such as planning, identifying 
system needs, and replacing or enhancing existing systems 







Approving Four Staff Positions (R452) October 3, 2007 


 


Page 3 of 5 


• Timing: Immediate recruitment and hiring to have the capability needed for data 
analyses related to programs, new cost-effectiveness efficiency measure analyses and 
form changes especially needed for the peak activity period of December through 
March. 


2. As recommended by Moss Adams and endorsed by Energy Trust staff, a permanent FTE 
IT Administrative Assistant to:  


o Design, modify, update and maintain forms used for programs, contracts, finance and 
IT, supporting timely program delivery 


o Assist with data quality projects 


o Procure hardware and software 


o Ensure software compliance tracking and documentation 


o Coordinate user training 


o Other administrative duties for the IT department including: 
♦ Software and hardware inventory data maintenance 
♦ Measure binder creation and maintenance 
♦ Setup, notes and minutes for IT Advisory Committee meetings 


• Timing: Immediate. For three years, this ongoing function has been fulfilled by three 
different contractors. The current contractor is highly competent and has served in 
this capacity for nearly six months. At six months, Energy Trust has the option to 
convert the contractor to employee status without paying fees to the contracting 
agency. Should this outcome not occur, turnover is again expected. 


3. An FTE Trade Ally/ATAC Coordinator to: 


o Support and maintain a highly informed and functional network of trade allies and 
allied technical assistance contractors (ATACs) unique to the efficiency and solar 
programs  


o Create and maintain umbrella trade ally and ATAC agreements for those 
participating in multiple Energy Trust programs 


o Prepare new agreements to correspond to changes in program management 
contractors  


o Update and maintain trade ally and ATAC license and certification information and 
insurance certification records 


o Centralize and track customer correspondence and customer service matters, 
reinforcing customer service standards 


o Oversee and facilitate communications with trade allies and ATACs, answering 
questions, listening to and acting upon suggestions received, organizing training and 
other outreach meetings, and helping with forms 


o Coordinate with PMCs who will continue to provide program-specific outreach and 
support, deliver field training, and provide information and forms to trade 
allies/ATACs for their specific programs 


• Timing: Immediate. Hiring for this position now is critical because 1) current ATAC 
agreements lapse in January and new agreements must be in place to ensure 
continuity of project studies and 2) trade allies need to enroll and be registered with 







Approving Four Staff Positions (R452) October 3, 2007 


 


Page 4 of 5 


Energy Trust and have new agreements in place. Hiring a new coordinator will allow 
this process to go forward without program disruptions.  


(Note: The Conservation Advisory Council notes in this packet provide additional comments and 
public input on this subject.) 


4.  An FTE Solar Account Project Manager to: 


o Help manage the growing volume of solar program activity and enhance service to 
utilities, solar developers and program participants  


o Provide comprehensive renewable and efficiency program offerings to potential 
participants, tailoring the marketing, program delivery and incentive application 
process for commercial solar electric and solar water heating measures with 
Energy Trust’s commercial/industrial energy efficiency programs 


o Support municipalities pursuing solar electric system installations using Energy 
Trust’s new nonprofit/government incentives and third party ownership ("flip") 
financing model 


o Quickly respond to commercial participant and project developer inquiries, 
supporting electric and solar water heating projects moving forward to 
completion 


• Timing: Immediate. Staff has fallen behind on solar program initiatives. The launch of two 
major solar electric incentive changes intended to boost program activity to meet 2007 
goals were delayed by over 2 months because staff capacity is already overtaxed. 
Specific reasons for capacity issues correspond to the dramatic increase in commercial 
solar inquiries stemming from the passage of SB 2211 during the 2007 Oregon 
Legislative session. This bill raised the Business Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% for 
renewable energy systems. Responsiveness to these inquiries is needed now to serve 
the public and fulfill project demand and potential and meet generation goals for 2008-
2009 and beyond. Current staff is moving forward on the implementation of the Oregon 
Renewable Energy Act by participating in Oregon Department of Energy and Oregon 
Public Utility Commission rule-making while also pursuing large-scale solar electric 
projects already identified. 







Approving Four Staff Positions (R452) October 3, 2007 


 


Page 5 of 5 


RESOLUTION #452 


APPROVING FOUR STAFF POSITIONS 


 WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust 2007-2012 strategic plan and operations plan puts a 
high priority emphasis and focus on streamlining information 
technology (IT) systems, budget processes and program management 
to enhance flexibility and customer service to staff, system users and 
program participants.  


2. In 2007, Energy Trust retained Moss Adams to review Energy Trust’s 
IT systems and functions. Moss Adams recommended a number of 
specific improvements, including modifications in the IT department 
organization and structure. The board concurs that two key 
recommendations would be addressed by adding a new Business 
Systems Analyst and a permanent FTE Administrative Assistant.  


3. Energy Trust has identified two other critical areas where additional  
staffing would substantially improve service to and reliance upon 
trade allies and program delivery to solar program participants: a 
Trade Ally/ATAC Coordinator, and a Solar Account Project Manager. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the 
Executive Director to immediately recruit and hire four new 
permanent staff positions: a Business Systems Analyst, an IT 
Administrative Assistant, a Trade Ally/ATAC Coordinator and a 
Solar Account Project Manager.  


 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
 
 
Staff Report 
October 3, 2007 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period July 23, 2007 
through September 21, 2007. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described 
here. 


General 
• Hosted a highly productive and informative 2+ day small-group meeting with 


representatives from Efficiency Vermont and Wisconsin Energy Efficiency Corporation 
to exchange ideas, experiences and plans 


• Conducted an in-house strategic planning session all day on August 27, engaging 
representatives from all parts of the organization in discussion of issues and priorities to 
include in the 2008 budget and 2009-2010 action plan 


• Margie was invited to attend and be the dinner speaker at the September 10-11 
Manufacturing & Developing Wind Energy Systems conference in Michigan where she 
described the Energy Trust model and accomplishments 


• Margie also was invited to attend and serve on an energy and environment panel at the 
Council of State Governments-West meeting in Wyoming on September 17 


• Tom and Margie presented the second quarter report to the OPUC on September 20 


Program Planning and Evaluation 
• Developed estimate of possible additional Pacific Power annual funding under SB838 


efficiency provisions, similar to an analysis previously developed with PGE. 
• Met with OPUC and other interested parties to begin development of rules and 


requirements for utilities and the Energy Trust under SB 838.  
• Worked with PGE on the definition of “customers with load less than one average 


megawatt,” not required to pay into any SB 838 efficiency tariff. Key issue is whether a 
“customer” is represented by a meter, a site, or all sites under common ownership. 
PGE will propose a method in its tariff filing in late September; Pacificorp will file in 
October.  


• Awaiting a decision from Cascade Natural Gas as to whether they would like Energy 
Trust to provide further assistance and advice as they expand program offerings and 
likely procure efficiency program management services in Washington state. 


• Contracted with Stellar Processes and Ecotope to update the Energy Trust efficiency 
resource assessment, which estimates the amount of conservation available over time 
from various sectors and measures and in total, for both gas and electric efficiency. 


• Held the kickoff meeting of a project steering group for the resource assessment update 
that includes utility, OPUC, and Power Council representatives. 


• Prepared a memo defining market research roles of different Energy Trust departments 
and generated consensus on the broad outlines of how best to coordinate activities and 
assure quality. This understanding will be used in the 2008-09 budget development. 


• Participated in the kickoff of a regional working group to develop methods and data to 
quantify non-energy benefits (e.g., productivity), focusing on commercial efficiency 
projects. 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 2 of 9 


Residential 
• Completed cost-effectiveness calculations for: 


- Updated gas fireplace measure 
- Ductless mini-split heat pump 
- New refrigerator measure 
- Kneewall insulation in existing homes 
- Duct sealing for new duct systems in existing single family homes 


• Completed Home Energy Savings Program Multifamily Building Owner Evaluation 


Commercial and Industrial 
• Completed cost effectiveness calculations for revised incentives for commercial clothes 


washers 
• Participated in the Regional Technical Forum subcommittee to develop prescriptive 


standards for comprehensive efficiency improvements for small commercial buildings 
 Completed the Building Tune-Up and Operations Program Evaluation 


Renewables 
 Completed the Community Wind RFP Process Evaluation 


NW Alliance Evaluations 
• Completed the Energy Star Consumer Products Market Progress Evaluation Report 


(August 2007) 


Efficiency Programs 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Presented first solar training session for professionals (plumbing basics) and scheduled a 


robust line-up of consumer trainings for this fall 
• Made continued progress with outreach, marketing, and curriculum development as part 


of the Technical School Outreach initiative 
• Signed 15 new builders to the program in August 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Partnered with Bonneville Environmental Foundation to introduce Solar 4R Schools 


contest as part of the Change a Light fundraiser program 
• Tracking the beginning shipments of CFLs to those stores participating in the Fall 


Change a Light promotion launching in September 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Completed 814 Home Energy Reviews in July and August, compared to 599 in the same 


period in 2006, achieving 50% more gas savings than forecasted 
• Added 4 new trade allies 
• Presented “Strategies for Successful Home Performance Selling” training to 37 trade 


allies on July 17 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Continued program presentations to targeted architecture and engineering firms 
• Continued to receive project notices and applications at a rapid rate, demonstrating that 


recent outreach has produced results 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 3 of 9 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• Worked closely with the Oregon Department of Energy to help school districts comply 


with Senate Bill 479 by replacing their metal halide and mercury vapor lighting with 
better, safer lighting technology 


• Continued close work with BPA and the Regional Technical Forum on energy efficiency 
measures for the lodging/hospitality market 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• Interviewed candidates to fill the technical manager and industrial coordinator positions 
• Issued an RFP for a Program Delivery Contractor to develop and implement the Small 


Industrial Initiative; responses due October 5 
• Completed the SP Newsprint 6.54 aMW de-inking expansion mega-project with an 


incentive payment of $1million 


NW Energy Efficiency Alliance 
• Worked with the EPA, ODOE and Ecotope to develop a new ENERGY STAR 


specification in anticipation of Oregon code changes being approved 
• Sponsored a contest with the Building Owners and Managers Association to recognize 


the most energy-efficient Portland office buildings using the Energy Star Portfolio 
Manager benchmarking platform 


• Assisted Legacy Health System in facility scoping and benchmarking for its Strategic 
Resource Management Plan to support energy efficiency opportunities on a multi-year 
basis across the system 


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Met with Tualatin Valley Water District to discuss hydro and solar project possibilities 
• Outreach contractor met with officials from Wilsonville, Sherwood, Beaverton, Salem, 


Washington County, Metro, Gresham, Hillsboro, and Clackamas County to discuss 
solar project possibilities 


• Worked with Multnomah County to develop its solar project RFP 


Utility Scale 
• The Biglow Canyon 125 MW wind project (PGE) and the GoodNoe Hills 94 MW wind 


project (Pacific Power) are proceeding on schedule to be on line in 2007 
• Pacific Power withdrew its letter of intent to provide a follow-on, large-scale renewable 


project; staff will identify other projects to fund with unspent budget in 2007 and 2008.   


Wind 
• Continued to meet with turbine suppliers and financers to help secure a reliable supply 


of large turbines for Oregon projects 
• Conducted two site assessments in Hood River County for the installation of 50 meter 


anemometer towers 
• Contracted with Northwest SEED to revise the Community Wind Guidebook in 


preparation for a second printing 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 4 of 9 


Biopower 
• Signed $5 million funding agreement for 15.8-megawatt Warm Springs Biomass project  
• Signed agreements to share the cost of feasibility studies at Boise White Paper and 


Stimson Lumber, both wood co-generation and for food processing waste biogas 
options at Oregon Cherry Growers Cooperative and Stahlbush Island Farms  


• Completed feasibility study of Port of Morrow’s Heppner wood cogeneration project 
and market assessment of animal byproducts in partnership with the Oregon 
Department of Agriculture and the Animal Byproducts Oregon Solutions team 


• Presented at Association of Clean Water Agencies in Bend, Oregon, on biogas 
opportunities for wastewater treatment opportunities 


Solar 
• Initiated market research project with SmartPower involving surveys and focus groups 


with those who have expressed interest in solar and have not installed a system; 
responses will be compared to those from individuals who have installed a solar energy 
system 


• Staff met with representatives from the Governor's office and Oregon Department of 
Transportation and private consultants interested in potentially building a large-scale 
solar electric installation along public lands in the I-5 corridor; a similar approach has 
been used in Germany and this would be a first U.S. location. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
Call Center/Customer Service  


• Organized commercial lighting training for call center representatives 
• Organized and attended two meetings of the Umpqua Community Action Network to 


support their possible solar project and obtain their help in expanding home energy 
review capacity in southern Oregon 


• Presented Energy Trust program information for Rogue Gateway Rotary Club in Grants 
Pass 


• Discussed outreach possibilities with Rotary Club members in Grants Pass 
• Presented solar program information for Solar Sunday event in Coos Bay/North Bend 
• Participated in Home Energy Solutions strategy planning session to provide call 


center/customer service input 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 5 of 9 


  
Call Volume through August 2007 


 
 Website  


• Reached peak of over 75,000 visits in July, and dropped slightly to 66,131 in August 
• Launched an online residential program survey to help determine what programs 


customers are interested in and what motivates them to invest in energy efficiency 
measures and/or renewable energy 


• Completed work on the online form and coupon for the special Solar Coupon 
promotion 


• Posted the new Solar Photo Gallery, sporting new navigational features and quotes from 
profiled participants 


• Launched the new Solar Calculator, an interactive tool designed to help consumers and 
businesses determine the costs and feasibility of installing a solar electric system 


• Launched a residential promotions page to feature a menu of limited-time bonus offers 
through the Home Energy Solutions program and link visitors to special manufacturer 
offers  


• Launched online entry forms for four tankless water heating sweepstakes sponsored by 
Energy Trust, NW Natural, Cascade Natural Gas and Rinnai, a leading tankless 
manufacturer, Sept. 1-Oct. 15  


• Posted a new website map 
• Posted new Active Builder pages, providing information and photos on specific builders, 


including their developments and costs 
 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 6 of 9 


  
Website Visits through August 2007 


 
 
 
Trade Ally Coordination 


• Fully updated trade ally training calendar expected to launch on website by end 
September 


• Held trade ally roundtable in Grants Pass, and at request of trade allies; strong turnout 
resulted in commitment to hold quarterly sessions there 


• Held two trade ally recruitment meetings, one in Pendleton and one in Baker City 
• Met with legal department to begin work on central trade ally policies and coordination 


efforts 
• Met with key trade allies to hear their suggestions and pursue solutions 
• Organized follow up meeting for trade allies to discuss updates to the residential 


weatherization specifications manual 


Community Energy and Outreach  
•        Met with Greg Ellis, Independence City Manager, and concluded there is no local 


"champion" to pursue a local community energy project, although an individual was 
identified who might become one. Though the Independence Station multi-use 
development across from City Hall is destined for LEED standards, no construction 
activity has occurred in two years. A sustainability-themed economic development 
workshop will be held in neighboring Monmouth (municipal electric service) instead of 
Independence; a new wood products plant contemplating a co-generation facility has 
encountered permitting problems. 


• Met with the steering committee of the Corvallis Sustainability Coalition, whose 
members expressed strong enthusiasm for partnering with Energy Trust on a 
community energy pilot effort. Met again with the larger coalition, again encountering 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 7 of 9 


enthusiasm. A vote-by-mail of members on this matter will conclude Sept. 26 and if 
positive, Energy Trust will work with Corvallis and not Independence on our first 
venture into community energy.  


• Collaborated with the governor’s office, Oregon Environmental Council and Oregon 
Wine Board on a voluntary carbon-neutral initiative for Oregon wineries; Energy Trust 
offers free solar and efficiency assessments as step one toward carbon neutrality. 


  
Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships  


• Participated in 45 energy/conservation-related events during the period 
• Presented at the Small-scale Hydroelectric Generation in Oregon conference 
• Sponsored three Basics of Going Solar workshops 
• Staffed booths at 12 fairs and expos around the state 
• Completed the New Buildings Road Show: Why Build Green? with stops in   


Albany/Corvallis, Medford, Bend and Portland 
  
Creative Products  


• Created 21 new and resized advertisements: 6 commercial, 7 residential, 7 renewable 
and 1 general 


• Produced and released 3 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 
allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly) 


• Created 3 new case studies representing the Existing Buildings and Production Efficiency 
programs 


• Created 4 new fact sheets representing the Existing Buildings and Solar programs 
• Updated solar programs brochure 
• Created a direct mail letter and flyer for a refrigerator replacement program for 


Pendleton customers 
 
News Releases and Media Events  


• Distributed 3 press releases: CAPECO Refrigerator Replacement program in Pendleton, 
SP Newsprint project completion and presentation of $1 million incentive check, Fall 
Change a Light, Change the World promotion announcement 


• Continued to build a pipeline of stories and press releases for 2007 
• Continued to garner news coverage about Energy Trust programs in local newspapers 


around the state 
   


Utility Co-promotions  
• Cascade Natural Gas: August bill insert featuring ENERGY STAR new homes; 


September inserts featuring tankless gas water heaters (residential) and pre-rinse 
sprayers (commercial); tankless water heating promotion direct mail to Central Oregon 
customers with sweepstakes offer for a Rinnai tankless water heater 


• NW Natural: August Comfort Zone newsletter story on Home Performance with 
ENERGY STAR and customer Margaret Young, plus mention of Energy Trust duct 
sealing donation for NW Natural home makeover promotion; September bill inserts 
featuring tankless gas water heaters (Salem and Portland residential customers) and pre-
rinse sprayers (foodservice customers); tankless water heating promotion direct mail to 
Eugene customers with sweepstakes offer for a Rinnai tankless water heater 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 8 of 9 


• Pacific Power: July Voices newsletter story on heat pump incentives and summer cooling, 
Energy Connections newsletter story on restaurant and lodging incentives and Energy 
Insights newsletter story on Wong Potatoes and Production Efficiency incentives; 
September Voices newsletter story on the fall Change a Light CFL promotion 


• PGE: Fall Change a Light CFL promotion story and solar incentive mention in August 
Update; Solar Expo story in September Update; ENERGY STAR manufactured homes bill 
insert in targeted September residential bills and ongoing online listings on PGE website 
for classes Energy Trust co-sponsors for business customers 


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Reviewed consultant findings for organization-wide allocation study; delayed 


implementation of changes recommended to analyze cost/benefit 
• Established 2008-09 improved budget models for each program 
• Coordinated budgets with department and program support 
• Completed insurance renewals for Management Liability and Errors and Omissions 


coverage 
• Reviewed the Advanced Budgeting System that accompanies Blackbaud accounting 


system 
• Met with Perkins & Company audit team to discuss results of Moss Adams Enterprise 


Architecture study and implications for 2007 interim audit work 
• Obtained and reviewed RFP responses for development of complete requirements 


document to facilitate accounting software search 
• Designed new financial report for marketing 
• Prepared financial reports for July and August 
• Assisted with the implementation of the incentive pre-import report 
• Reduced the number of incentive errors prior to import 
• Monitored the duplication of existing Gold Mine and Great Plains vendor accounts 
• Prevented creation of duplicate Gold Mine and Great Plains vendor accounts 
• Assisted PMC with Gold Mine and Great Plains questions 
• Voided and reissued outdated incentive checks 
• Recorded and issued payments to Energy Trust vendors and accounts 
• Researched value of an incentive check control point and determined a new control 


would be used for several new reports 
• Added organizational budgeting to organizational timeline process 
• Released Substitute W-9 to commercial/industrial programs and conducted W-9 


training with commercial/industrial programs 
• Recommended changes on commercial/industrial forms to correspond to Substitute W-


9 language 
• Recommended new method to manage incentives in FastTrack and Great Plains 
• Worked with IT to build and finalize several reports to facilitate controls in incentive 


approval process, help prevent payee name errors and ensure legal vendor naming 
processes 


• Continued working with Production Efficiency program to recommend processes and 
ideas for in-house program management 







Staff Report October 3, 2007  


Page 9 of 9 


• Finalized all industrial and commercial document retention review and issued 
Verification Receipts for 2001-12/31/2006 


• Input all internally managed programs project files into document retention archives 
• Continued working on residential document retention review for missing files 
• Finalized Document Destruction Policy 
• Completed 2007 Q2 FastTrack audit 


Human Resources 
• Held meeting facilitation training for all staff 
• Received an award from EarthShare of Oregon for Energy Trust employees who choose 


to donate through a payroll deduction; donations increased 119% from the previous 
year and participation increased 133% 


• Accepted the resignation of Martin Staudacher, IT contractor 
• Contracted with Jason King who will provide desktop support in the IT department, 


replacing Martin 
• Reluctantly accepted Senior Accountant Thuong Ho’s resignation to return to the 


Seattle area with her husband and new baby 
• Reluctantly accepted resignation from Planning and Analysis Manager Jill Steiner who will 


be joining the Snohomish Public Utility District as their Planning/Evaluation Department 
manager 


• Currently recruiting for Industrial Technical Manager and Industrial Sector Coordinator 


Legal and Contracts 
• Activity incorporated under other headings 


Information Technology 
• Received an updated version of the Enterprise Architecture study report from Moss 


Adams incorporating staff response 
• Released a new version of FastTrack incorporating enhancements to the forecasting 


module and a revised and simplified measure reversal process 
• Enhanced Goldmine screens to provide PMC users with visibility to vendor status in 


Great Plains, improving data quality and minimizing duplication of vendor entries 
• Automated the second quarter report featuring compilation of the numbers from 


FastTrack and Great Plains into the MS Word document tables and text explanations 
• Recognized the completion of Serene Ezell’s internship on September 21st. 


 
 








 
 


2008 Board and Advisory 
Council Proposed Meeting Schedule 
August 9, 2007 
 
January 
1M   Holiday 
21 M Holiday 
23 W CAC/RAC (4th Wednesday) 
 
February 
13 W Board Meeting (Annual meeting, election of officers) (2nd Wednesday) 
15 F 4th Quarter report due OPUC 
18 M Holiday 
 
March 
19 W CAC/RAC  (3rd Wednesday) 
24-28 M-F  Portland Public Schools spring break 
 
April 
9 W Board Meeting (2nd Wednesday) 
15 T Annual Report due OPUC 
16 W CAC/RAC (3rd Wednesday) 
 
May 
14 W Board Meeting (2nd Wednesday) 
15 Th 1st Quarter report due OPUC 
21 W CAC/RAC (3rd Wednesday) 
26 M Holiday 
 
June 
13 F Board Meeting (2nd Friday) 
13-14 F-S  Strategic Planning Workshop 
13 F Last day of school – Portland Public schools 
 
July 
4 F Holiday 
 
August 
13 W CAC/RAC (2nd Wednesday) 
15 F 2nd Quarter report due OPUC 
 
September 
1M Holiday 
3W Board Meeting (1st Wednesday) 
 
October 
22 W CAC/RAC (4th Wednesday) 







2008 Board, Board Committees and Advisory Council 
Proposed Meeting Schedule  August 9, 2007 


 
November 
12 W Board Meeting (2nd Wednesday) 
14 F 3rd Quarter report due OPUC 
14 F Draft budget due OPUC 
27-28 Th-F  Holiday 
 
December 
3 W CAC/RAC (1st Wednesday) 
17 W Board Meeting (3rd Wednesday) 
31 W Approved budget due OPUC 
 
 
 








 
 
Finance Report 
July 31, 2007 
 
Review July 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 
In anticipation of the termination of our lease (and sublease) at our old office location, Energy Trust sold 
the remaining cubicle office furniture located there in July. The buyer was one of the sublessee nonprofit 
organizations in the space, which made the transition logistically and administratively simple. The 
furniture had been fully depreciated at the time of sale. Energy Trust therefore recognized a small gain 
of $2,000 on the sale. Subsequent to the actual termination, Energy Trust also expects to receive a 
refund of the rent deposit paid for that location. Other than this, the balance sheet and cash flow 
statements for July reflect relatively normal transactions.  
 
Energy Trust continues to build cash balances over the year with significant expenditures occurring late 
in 2007. We expect to finish 2007 with a little over $56 million in cash and escrows. 
 
Income Statements 
 
Variances are generally improving modestly this month over the previous months, with expenditures 
tracking a little more closely to budget. The residential sector (existing homes) is continuing to 
overspend its gas budget; however the variance is expected to come more in line with budget by year 
end. Revised revenue forecasts from the electric utilities have been incorporated into the forecasting 
(but not the budget) for the remainder of the year, but they are not expected to influence future 
variances significantly. Specific variances are described below. 
 
Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $2.4 million (6.5% variance). The forecasted year end 
variance is expected to be less than this based on information provided by the utilities: 


o PGE 2007 
 EE budgeted revenue $22.3M, current forecast $23.7M 
 RE budgeted revenue $6.7M, current forecast  $7.0M 


o PacifiCorp 2007 
 EE budgeted revenue $15M, current forecast $15.6M 
 RE budgeted revenue $4.5M, current forecast $4.7M 


o NW Natural 
 EE budgeted revenue $9.3M, current forecast $9.7M 


o Cascade  
 EE budgeted revenue $.9M, current forecast $.9M 


o Avista 
 EE budgeted revenue $.3M, current forecast $.2M 


• Conservation rate credit revenue variance will continue throughout year 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 


remainder of year, unless overturned 
o Only received $550,000 of budgeted $1.1M in PGE revenue 
o Received none of budgeted $800,000 revenue from PacifiCorp 
o Not incurring/reporting any CRC related expenses for either utility 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $450 thousand (33% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 







Finance Report  July 31, 2007 


 2


 
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $4.6 million (17.1% variance from budget) 
o By line item 


 Program management, delivery, marketing $862 thousand (19% of expense 
variance) 


• Delivery primarily in commercial sector, then residential, then industrial. 
PMC marketing variance (underspent) primarily in residential sector 
where incentives are currently over budget. PMC marketing in the 
commercial sector exceeds budget in an effort to improve savings 
attainment 


 Incentives $1.2 million (27% of expense variance)  
• Commercial sector (41% of incentive variance) 


o New buildings—staff shortage impeding project completions 
o Existing buildings—temporary delay in project completions 


• Industrial sector (61% of incentive variance) 
o Reflects shift of payment of a major project from April to 


August 
• Overspent in residential sector (-73% of incentive variance) 


o Spring lighting and washer campaigns going better than expected 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected 


• Renewable energy (71% of incentive variance) 
o Primarily solar where expenditures for incentives are below 


budget primarily due to decisions by businesses to delay 
installations until legislation to increase the state Business 
Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% was enacted. In PGE 
service territory new caps and new incentive offerings are being 
implemented to improve uptake 


 Professional services $2.0 million (42% of expense variance) 
• Evaluations—delays in scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work expected to begin in August 
o EH—work just began in June 


• Renewables inspection and project analyses still delayed 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 


contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations 
o By division 


 Energy efficiency 
 3.0 million under spent from budget (12.8%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $3.6M 
• Good news-gas efficiency over spent $650K 


 Renewable energy   
• $1.6 million under spent from budget (44%)—solar, wind and biopower 


programs 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 5.5%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year in July was 5.7%. Last month’s rate was 5.4%. 








 
 
Finance Report 
September 10, 2007 
 
The finance committee met at 3:30 pm on September 10, 2007, with John Klosterman, treasurer; 
Debbie Kitchen, board member; Alan Meyer, board member; Sue Sample CFO; and Pati Presnail, 
controller in attendance.  Tom Foley and Margie Harris did not attend. 
 
Review July 2007 month and year-to-date financial statements 
 
The committee discussed the July 2007 financial statement results and accompanying analysis.  July is 
consistent with the trend this year, with revenues somewhat higher than budget, and expenses to date 
below.   
 
The committee referred to the cash flow forecast.  Incentives for the month of December are higher 
than any three month period through the two years shown in the cash flow.  The committee suggested 
that any barriers to closing projects, or any procedures within the organization’s control should be 
examined to determine if there are artificial causes for the extreme December peak. 
 
Enterprise Architecture results and status 
Sue updated the committee on the four major goals resulting from the Moss Adams study of Energy 
Trust information technology opportunities. 
  
Investigate replacement of the Great Plains accounting system 


o Progress:  responses received for outsourcing the search and evaluation of competing packages. 
o Next step: deeper look at Great Plains to determine if add-ons or other changes in deployment 


could make the system fully functional for future needs.  
 
Strengthen capabilities of FastTrack system 


o Continuing to make regular upgrades and take feedback from users 
o Evaluate CRM system components in 2008 
o 2008 budget will reflect increased costs for potential revision if warranted 


 
Strengthen the organization structure within IT 


o Developed a new organization chart for the group, with a more reasonable span of control for 
the manager 


o Identified additional staff positions.  2 are new, 3 are existing contractors to be converted to 
staff, 1represents filling currently vacant ½ time position 


 
Develop a strategic plan to align information technology with overall goals 


o To follow 
 
Change in financial procedure: re capitalization limits 
Pati presented a recommendation to raise the capitalization threshold for fixed assets from $2,500 to 
$5,000.  The change would align Energy Trust with similar sized organizations and prepare the 
organization for federal contracting in the future.  The committee agreed that the change was 
reasonable in light of what other organizations are doing, the immaterial effect on the financial 
statements, and the existence of asset inventory procedures that are independent of the capitalization 
threshold.  Next step is to incorporate this policy in the staff manual and adopt it in practice. 







Finance Report  July 31, 2007 


 2


 
Next meeting date 
The next meetings will be held on Mondays at 3:30 in the afternoon: 
October 8, 2007  canceled after report was written  
November 5, 2007 canceled after report was written 
October 29, 2007 new meeting scheduled after report was written 
December 3, 2007 
The budget will be the primary focus of these meetings 
 
Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 4:15 pm. 
 
 
 








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 28, 2007 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


4 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
(Proposal to merge this category with Service incentives once method to determine tax 
status incorporated into FastTrack rather than requiring GL coding.) 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 
to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


5 


IT Support Services  
• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 
contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 


• Trade ally training pertaining to program delivery (Steve proposing to move to Service Incentives 
pending PUC staff approval, as it’s Market Transformation activity and TA participants as well as 
customers are beneficiaries.) 


 
Program Legal Services 


• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-
specific contract. 


 
Program Management Expense  


• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 
etc. 


• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 
 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


6 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


 
 







Financial Glossary updated 3/28/07   


7 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
 
Joint Meeting Policy and Strategic Planning Committees  
of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
August 1, 10:00-11:30 am 
 
Attending from the committees: Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, John Reynolds 
  
Attending from Energy Trust staff: Steve Lacey, Margie Harris, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Jill 
Steiner, John Volkman 
  
The purpose of the meeting was to review and discuss staff’s analysis of the idea of providing energy 
efficiency programs to Cascade Natural Gas Corporation’s Washington customers.  
  
Margie Harris reported on the staff’s conclusions following review of the very useful analysis that was 
done for Energy Trust by consultants. Staff does not believe it is feasible to operate Cascade programs 
in Washington at this time, given the work we have to do to respond to new Oregon legislation and 
implement several infrastructure (accounting and IT) enhancements over the next 12-18 months.  
  
In addition, the consultants’ report showed that there is only modest stakeholder Oregon and 
Washington support for Energy Trust delivery of programs in Washington, and some significant 
stakeholder concerns. In Oregon, concerns revolve around the diversion of resources at a time of 
significant growth in Oregon. In Washington, concerns focus on (1) the effect of outsourcing on the 
development of program delivery capability within Cascade’s organization and in the State of 
Washington and the (2) allegiance of the Energy Trust to its Oregon constituents. While many of these 
concerns could be addressed, we think it would not be wise to do so given competing demands. We 
think there is a reasonable chance, if timing were not an issue, Energy Trust could successfully deliver 
programs for Cascade in Washington, and we do not foreclose providing broader assistance at a later 
date. 
  
We do propose to offer consulting support to Cascade. The consultants’ report provides Cascade with 
many of the elements of a framework for contracting for efficiency programs, including a resource 
analysis and elements of program targeting and design. If Cascade wishes, we could help in several areas: 


• Work with Cascade to outline program support activities and internal staffing requirements  
• Help develop requests for proposals for program management contractors (PMCs) and internal 


program support  
• Help identify qualified potential service providers  
• Help develop proposal evaluation criteria  
• Help establish contractual  arrangements with PMCs that support Cascade goals  
• Help develop specifications for systems to track program participation, spending and impacts  
• Share information on processes for planning and budgeting  
• Provide input on core functionality of systems to track program spending and impacts  
• Help develop draft templates for regulatory reporting  
• Provide ongoing help with PMC management, program performance and enhancement, e.g. 


incentive levels and marketing strategies  
  
We think this approach will minimize major stakeholders concerns and provide Cascade access to the 
significant expertise built by the ET. 
  
The committee members expressed regret that Energy Trust cannot deliver Washington program 
services at this time, but endorsed the staff’s conclusions..  








 
 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
September 4, 2007, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Caddy McKeown (by telephone), John Reynolds, Fred 
Gordon, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaefer, Peter West, and John Volkman 
 
1. Three-year policy reviews:  
 
 Economic development policy: This policy assures that economic development projects 
will get expedited attention from Energy Trust. The policy does not authorize incentives that 
vary from those available to other projects, but gives staff authority to make commitments more 
quickly. The committee and staff recommended no change in the policy. The committee will 
report this recommendation at the October board meeting. 
 
 Contract execution and oversight policy: This policy regulates authority to sign 
contracts. For contracts involving more than $500,000, the board must approve basic terms.  
 Staff recommended two changes, the first prompted by the transition of the production 
efficiency (PE) program in-house. Under the Lockheed PE program, incentives were approved by 
Lockheed. With the program in-house, the current contract policy would require Margie to sign 
all incentive agreements under $500,000. Staff suggested that the policy authorize a department 
director or his/her designee to authorize incentive payments under standard programs. This 
would preserve roughly the past level of control in the PE program. The committee suggested 
several revisions to clarify that: the proposed authorization would apply only to programs 
managed by Energy Trust; the authorization would be limited to incentive agreements requested 
through standardized program forms; the authorization would apply only to incentives less than 
$500,000; and department directors could delegate authority only to people in management 
positions. In presenting this recommendation to the board, staff should explain the various 
internal controls in place to ensure that this authority is exercised reasonably.  
 The second change would allow sector and program managers to sign agreements not 
involving an expenditure – this would apply primarily to confidentiality agreements, where an 
individual manager needs access to another party’s confidential information in order to assess a 
project. This recommendation prompted no discussion. 
 The committee suggested the contract execution policy recommendations be put on 
the consent agenda for the October meeting. 
 
2.       PMC contracts. Staff expects to take basic contract terms for two PMC contracts to the 
October board meeting: Home Energy Solutions- Existing Buildings, awarded to Conservation 
Services Group PMC, and Business Energy Solutions-Existing Buildings, awarded to Lockheed 
Martin. Steve Lacey briefed the committee on the process that was used to solicit and evaluate 
proposals for these programs. The Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes program budget is 
expected to be $8.3 million, and the PMC contract is expected to be $3 million. The Business 
Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings program budget is expected to be $4.3 million, and the 
PMC contract is expected to be $1.4 million. Because final dollars will not be known until the 
board makes budget decisions in December, the resolutions that the board considers in 
October will be relatively simple, and dollar authorizations will be subject to the board’s later 
budget decisions.  







Policy Committee Notes  September 4, 2007 


 2


 
3.  Funding a PGE solar project from the utility-scale budget. Staff has proposed a solar 
project with Prologis, a firm that owns and operates a large amount of warehouse space 
nationally. The project could be as large as 4.7 megawatts of photovoltaic facilities that would be 
installed on 18 different warehouse roofs in PGE service territory, and deliver all energy to the 
grid. The requested incentive is $3.4 million. PGE supports the project and sees it as a peaking 
resource to address a growing summer peak. PGE proposes to process the project under the 
master agreement and fund it from the 2007 utility-scale budget. We have $4 million left in the 
utility-scale program and no other projects identified to use these funds. The committee 
thought it would be appropriate to use uncommitted utility-scale funds for the project. 
  
4. Status reports  


 
CAC membership: The committee endorsed reinstatement of Joe Esmonde to the CAC 


and the substitution of Charlie Grist for Tom Eckman of the Northwest Power and 
Conservation Council. 


 
Budget, staffing and supplemental efficiency funding decisions: Staff has engaged in a 


further strategic planning process following the board strategic planning retreat in June. As a 
result of anticipated priorities identified in these processes, staff is developing options for new 
staffing. The priorities relate to: (1) internal operations, particularly Information Technology, 
Financial Administration and Trade Ally coordination, which were identified in the 2006 five-year 
strategic plan; (2) new work to implement the renewable energy aspects of the Renewable 
Energy Act; and (3) new efficiency funding under the Renewable Energy Act. Margie asked 
whether the committee would feel comfortable with her making decisions about ten or so new 
staff positions to meet these priorities. In the organization’s early years, new staff positions were 
reviewed and approved by the board. More recently, new staff positions were identified in the 
course of budget preparation and review, but not highlighted. Board approval of a budget was 
deemed approval of the new positions. Now, with the results of the IT architecture study in 
hand, a growing volume of transactions, and the prospect of new funding for energy efficiency, 
staff would like to hire for at least some new positions before the board makes budget decisions 
in December.  


The committee had several concerns. First, because new positions are sensitive 
decisions, the extent of the executive director’s authority should be discussed by the full board. 
Second, the committee did not think it advisable to assume that supplemental efficiency funding 
would be approved on any given timeframe. Any new staff associated with that funding should 
be considered after the OPUC/utility decisions about supplemental efficiency funding are made. 
Third, the committee thought the board would want to know how the added staff would affect 
our ability to meet the OPUC’s administrative cost performance measure. 


We expect to see a budget from PGE for supplemental efficiency funding under the 
Renewable Energy Act by the end of September. At that point, we may have a better feeling for 
how the supplemental efficiency process will work. Over the last few weeks, there has been 
discussion of which customers are large customers under the Renewable Energy Act (using 
more than one average megawatt) and it is not clear whether the issue will be controversial. 


  
Risk policy in light of Renewable Energy Act: At the June board strategic planning 


meeting, we anticipated needing to take additional risk in investment decisions and committed 
to review the board’s risk-versus-reliability policy to see if it would require amendment. Fred 
Gordon reported that the current policy applies solely to energy efficiency and provides 
sufficient flexibility for anticipated investments. No change is needed. 







Policy Committee Notes  September 4, 2007 


 3


 
Green tag policy and impact of Renewable Energy Act: the newly-adopted green tag 


policy is being implemented, and staff has no concerns about that process. Although we expect 
to make some changes in how we handle green tags under the Renewable Energy Act, we 
expect to follow the model established in the utility master agreements and don’t see a likely 
need to amend the policy 


 
The Renewable Energy Act’s “constructing and operating” language: The Oregon 


Renewable Energy Act directs public purpose funds to “… the above-market costs of 
constructing and operating new renewable energy resources with a nominal electric generating 
capacity . . . of 20 megawatts or less.” The board asked the OPUC to clarify whether the 
addition of the words “constructing and operating” significantly limit the kinds of activity Energy 
Trust will be able to undertake. Staff met with OPUC and Oregon Department of Justice 
personnel earlier in the day to review the Justice Department’s analysis. With the benefit of the 
ensuing discussion, that group suggested Energy Trust propose a definition of the term. The 
OPUC can then consider using the proposal in its general rulemaking process under the 
Renewable Energy Act, scheduled to begin in October. 
 
 
 








 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


Multifamily Home  
Energy Savings Program 


Process and Net-to-Gross Evaluation 
 
 


Program Years 2005-2006 
 
 
 
 
 


Submitted to: 
 


Phil Degens 
Energy Trust of Oregon 


851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, OR 97204 


 
 
 


Submitted by: 
 


Itron, Inc. 
1111 Broadway, Suite 1800 


Oakland, CA 94607 
 (510) 844-2800 


 
March, 23 2007 







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 2 


1 
 
Executive Summary 


 
This section summarizes the study approach and major findings.  All of the findings 
presented in this report are based on program standards documents, program tracking 
data and telephone interviews conducted with 79 participating building owners and 
property managers.  
  
Surveyed participants installed measures over an 18 month period ending in October of 
2006.  The available participant contacts for this survey were limited, and for this reason 
the survey sample design is a census. 
 
1.1   Program Accomplishments 
The distribution of measures, sites, and energy savings achieved by the program over the 
18 month period ending in October of 2006 are shown below in Table 1-1.  This table 
provides an illustration of typical 2005/2006 participation patterns, and reveals windows 
to be a key program measure.  







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 3 


Table 1-1: Program Accomplishments Program Years 2005 and 20061 


 


Measure kWh Savings


Percent of 
Total kWh 


Savings
Therm 
Savings


Percent of 
Total Therm 


Savings
Ceiling Insulation 494,011 5% 18,450 31%
Wall Insulation 61,829 1% 2,775 5%
Floor Insulation 652,553 7% 12,401 21%
Insulated Door 60,783 1% 21 0%
Lighting 1,818,015 19% - -
Custom Lighting 30,929 0% - -
Showerhead 402,186 4% 1,358 2%
Electric Water Heater 3,643 0% - -
Faucet Restrictor 39,540 0% - -
Faucet Aerator 332,600 4% 925 2%
Windows 5,592,102 59% 22,950 38%
Gas Furnace - - 322 1%
Duct Sealing - - 961 2%
Total 9,488,191 100% 60,163 100%


 
 
1.2  Process Assessment 
Customers were asked to rate their satisfaction with various program elements on a scale 
of 1 to 5, where 5 is extremely satisfied and 1 is extremely unsatisfied.  Specifically, 
participant respondents were asked to rate the following elements: 


 The quality and completeness of information provided by the Energy Trust about 
the Multifamily Home Energy Savings Program. 


 The helpfulness of the Energy Trust representative. 


 Ease of applying for financial incentives from the Energy Trust 


 Program standards and requirements. 


 Satisfaction with any issue that needed resolution. 


 Overall program experience. 


 Overall program energy savings. 
 
Participant satisfaction ratings are overwhelmingly positive, as summarized in Table 1-2 
below.  Satisfaction ratings for Program information, the ETO representative, overall 
Program Experience and Energy Savings achieve a mean value of 4.5 or higher.  


                                                 
1 Participation shown here reflects 18 months of program activity ending October of 2006. 







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 4 


  


Table 1-2:  Satisfaction with Program Delivery, Customer Service and 
Energy Savings  


Satisfaction Rating
Information 


(%)
ETO Repre-


sentative (%)
Application 
Process (%)


Program 
Standards 


(%)
Resolution 


of Issues (%)


Program 
Experience 


(%)
Energy 


Savings (%)
 5, Extremely Satisfactory 65 73 41 35 41 58 46


4 24 20 35 44 27 33 23
3 4 4 16 10 10 8 3
2 3 0 5 4 1 1 0


1, Extremely Unsatisfactory 1 0 1 1 0 0 0
Don't Know 4 3 1 5 0 0 29


No Resolution Needed - - - - 22 - -
Mean 4.5 4.7 4.1 4.1 4.4 4.5 4.6


N 79 79 79 79 79 79 79
 


 
1.3  Net-to-Gross Findings 
In general free ridership appears very low, particularly among the measures that are 
installed for free.  A summary of final free ridership and spillover estimates are shown in 
Table 1-3 below.  Despite virtually zero spillover, the program has very high estimated 
net-to-gross ratios, ranging from 81 percent for insulation to 100 percent for CFLs.   
 


Table 1-3:  Summary of Net-to-Gross Results by Program Measure 


Program Measure Free Ridership Spillover
Final Net-to-
Gross Ratio


Insulation 19% 0% 81%
Windows 15% 0% 85%
CFL 2% 2% 100%
Showerhead 4% 0% 96%
Faucet Aerator 8% 0% 92%


 
 
1.3.1  Free Ridership Analysis 


This section provides an overview of each measure-specific free ridership result.  More 
detailed methods and analysis are presented in Chapter 4.  
 
Insulation Free Ridership Results 


Insulation free ridership results are summarized in Table 1-4 below.  The influence of the 
cash incentive on the decision to install insulation was very strong, with 69 percent of 
respondents reporting that the cash incentive was “very influential” in their decision to 
install insulation. The final estimated free ridership score for insulation is 19 percent, 
which is consistent with other findings presented in Chapter 4. 







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 5 


 


Table 1-4: Insulation Free Ridership Results 


Would have installed 
insulation anyway? Installed later?


Would have 
installed fewer 


types of insulation?


How influential was the 
incentive? Frequency Score


no n/a n/a Very influential 12 0
no n/a n/a Somewhat influential 2 0
yes Don't Know no Very influential 2 0
yes More than 1 year later no Very influential 7 0
yes More than 1 year later no Somewhat influential 1 0
yes At the same time no Very influential 3 0
yes At the same time no Somewhat influential 3 0.5
yes At the same time no Not at all influential 4 1
yes At the same time no Don't Know 2 1
yes Within 1 year no Very influential 3 0


19%Total Free Ridership Score
 


 


Window Free Ridership Results   


Table 1-5 below summarizes the windows free ridership results and shows the final 
estimated free ridership rate of 15 percent.  Fifty-eight percent of surveyed participants 
report that in the absence of the program they were “somewhat” or “not at all” likely to 
have installed new windows at all.  The influence of the cash incentive is strong among 
windows participants, with 61 percent of respondents reporting the cash incentive was 
“very influential” in their decision to install windows; eighteen percent report the cash 
incentive was “not at all influential”.     







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 6 


Table 1-5: Window Free Ridership Results 


Likelihood of Purchasing 
New Windows When?


Efficiency Relative to 
Program Windows


Not at all likely N/A N/A Very influential 12 0
Not at all likely N/A N/A Somewhat influential 1 0
Not at all likely N/A N/A Not at all influential 1 0
Somewhat likely At the same time Less efficient Very influential 2 0
Somewhat likely At the same time Same efficiency Somewhat influential 1 0.25
Somewhat likely Within a year Less efficient Very influential 2 0
Somewhat likely Within a year Less efficient Somewhat influential 1 0.13
Somewhat likely More than a year later Less efficient Very influential 10 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Less efficient Not at all influential 1 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Same efficiency Very influential 3 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Same efficiency Somewhat influential 2 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Same efficiency Not at all influential 1 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Same efficiency Don't know 1 0
Somewhat likely More than a year later Don't know Somewhat influential 1 0
Somewhat likely Don't know Same efficiency Very influential 1 0
Somewhat likely Don't know Same efficiency Somewhat influential 1 0.25
Somewhat likely Don't know Same efficiency Not at all influential 2 0.50
Very likely At the same time Less efficient Very influential 2 0
Very likely At the same time Less efficient Somewhat influential 1 0.25
Very likely At the same time Same efficiency Very influential 2 0
Very likely At the same time Same efficiency Somewhat influential 5 0.50
Very likely At the same time Same efficiency Not at all influential 5 1
Very likely At the same time Refused Not at all influential 1 1
Very likely At the same time Don't know Very influential 1 0
Very likely Within a year Same efficiency Very influential 1 0
Very likely Within a year Same efficiency Somewhat influential 1 0.50
Very likely More than a year later Less efficient Very influential 4 0
Very likely More than a year later Less efficient Somewhat influential 1 0
Very likely More than a year later Same efficiency Very influential 3 0
Very likely More than a year later Same efficiency Not at all influential 2 0
Very likely More than a year later Don't know Very influential 1 0
Very likely Don't know Don't know Very influential 1 0


15%


 Free 
Ridership 


Score


What Would Have Been Purchased in the Absence of the Program?


TOTAL Free Ridership Score for Windows


How Influential was the 
Cash Incentive Frequency


 
 
CFL Free Ridership Results 


Final free ridership results for CFL participants are shown in Table 1-6 below.  The 
estimated free ridership rate is quite low, at 2 percent, mostly due to the strong influence 
of the offer of free installation on the decision to install. 
 


Table 1-6: CFL Free Ridership Results 


Would have installed 
CFLs anyway? Installed later?


Would have 
installed fewer 


CFLs?


How influential was the 
incentive? Frequency Score


no n/a n/a Don't know 1 0
no n/a n/a Not at all influential 1 0
no n/a n/a Very influential 31 0
yes Within 1 year no Not at all influential 1 1
yes Within 1 year yes Very influential 1 0
yes More than 1 year later no Very influential 2 0
yes More than 1 year later yes Very influential 1 0
yes Within 1 year no Very influential 2 0
yes Within 1 year yes Very influential 6 0


2%Total Free Ridership Score
 







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 7 


CFL Persistence 


The survey results do not provide precise or robust estimates of persistence, however they 
do provide some useful information.  The figures collected through the survey indicate 
that 11 percent of CFLs are failing or burning out, and that about half of these, or 6 
percent, are being replaced with incandescent bulbs.  CFL persistence may be a high 
priority for future study, perhaps involving site visits. 
 
Showerhead Free Ridership Results 


Showerhead free ridership results are summarized in Table 1-7 below.  Not surprisingly, 
what really stands out in the results shown below is the reported influence of the offer of 
free showerheads.  It makes sense that the offer of free showerheads is a powerful factor 
in customer decisions, but there are some arguably inconsistent results presented in 
Chapter 4 surrounding timing of awareness and previous water-saving installations.  
While there are no indications that showerhead free ridership is terribly significant, it 
could remain a research issue going forward to sort out some inconsistencies found here. 
 


Table 1-7: Efficient Showerhead Free Ridership Results 


Would have installed 
showerheads anyway? Installed later?


Would have 
installed fewer 
showerheads?


How influential was the 
incentive? Frequency Score


no n/a n/a Very influential 10 0
no n/a n/a Somewhat influential 2 0
yes Don't Know no Very influential 2 0
yes More than 1 year later yes Very influential 3 0
yes Within 1 year no Very influential 2 0
yes Within 1 year no Not at all influential 1 1
yes Within 1 year yes Very influential 3 0


4%Total Free Ridership Score
 


 


Faucet Aerator Free Ridership Results 


Faucet aerator free ridership results are shown in Table 1-8 below.  Similar to the other 
free measures, the program offer of free installation was a powerful force in the decision 
to install.  The final free ridership estimate is very low, at 8 percent.   







Evaluation of the 2004 – 2005 Nonresidential Standard Performance Contract Program 


Introduction 8 


Table 1-8: Faucet Aerator Free Ridership Results 


Would have installed 
faucet aerators 


anyway?
Installed later?


Would have 
installed fewer 


faucet aerators?


How influential was the 
incentive? Frequency Score


no n/a n/a Very influential 18 0
no n/a n/a Very influential 1 0
yes More than 1 year later yes Very influential 1 0
yes Within 1 year no Very influential 1 0
yes Within 1 year no Not at all influential 2 1
yes Within 1 year yes Very influential 1 0


8%Total Free Ridership Score
 


 
1.3.2  Spillover Results 


The investigation of participant spillover yielded some notable results for CFLs, but not 
for other measures.  Among the 40 CFL participants surveyed, 3 reported CFL adoptions 
that qualify as spillover under the requirements set forth in Chapter 4.  These CFL 
spillover installations have an average size of 37 bulbs, which is 22 percent of the typical 
program installation size (164).  Thus, CFL spillover can be estimated at 2 percent of 
program CFL savings.  
 
Three additional non-CFL adoptions were reported by participants to be non-rebated and 
“very influenced” by their program experience.  However, none of these adoptions could 
be confidently deemed program-qualifying and thus other program spillover is estimated 
to be zero percent. 
 
 
 








 


 
 
 
Energy Trust Staff Response to 
The Home Energy Saving Program Multifamily Building Owner 
Evaluation Findings and Conclusions 
October 3, 2007 
 
The evaluation results indicate that the current design and implementation of the multifamily 
building owner portion of the Home Energy Savings Program (now the Home Energy Solutions 
Program) is working well from the perspective of the target audience, the building owner. 
Overall satisfaction in the program is quite high and most of the building owners have had little 
or no history in retrofitting their buildings with energy or water saving technologies. Low free 
rider rates continue to justify the current measure offerings as well as the embedded 
assumption that the program promotes early replacement of most measures. 
 
The failure rate of CFLs reported by building owners is troubling. The Program Management 
Contractor (PMC) plans to research the original extent of this problem and identify remedies. 
 








FINAL REPORT 


EVALUATION OF THE  
ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON 


  COMMUNITY WIND PROJECT SOLICITATION 
 
 


Submitted to: 
Phil Degens 
Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland OR 97204 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by  
PHILIPPUS WILLEMS, PHD. INC.  
11820 Silent Valley Lane 
Gaithersburg, MD 20878 
Email:  philwillems@comcast.net 
Phone:  301-762-3494 
 
June 14, 2007  
 


PWP, Inc. 







E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 10 03\Final\Wind FINAL Report ES.doc7/26/2007 3:32:00 PM 


Quantum Consulting Inc. 2 PECI EM&V Proposal 


Executive Summary  
This report summarizes the results of a process evaluation of the Energy Trust of 
Oregon’s (Energy Trust’s) solicitation of projects for its Community Wind Program. 
The RFP was issued on March 3, 2006, and 17 proposals representing potential total 
generation capacity of approximately 140 MW were received, including 11 Track One 
proposals with an anticipated 2007 project start date and 6 Track Two proposals with 
later start dates. The RFP process culminated in the signing of two Letters of Intent 
representing 14.5 MW by February 2007. In addition, calculations and determination of a 
power contract are continuing for one project, but no letter of intent (LOI)  has been 
signed yet, while another project found not to have above market costs is going forward 
without Energy Trust assistance and is expected to be operational by the end of 2007. 
 
Evaluation findings include the following: 
 


• The RFP process highlights the extent to which the community wind marketplace 
is dominated by a few developers; four developers accounted for most of the 
proposals and for all those that had a reasonable chance of being funded. 


• Overall, respondents commented favorably on the RFP process, noting that it was 
clear, had generally reasonable deadlines and requirements, and appeared to have 
been fairly evaluated. However, several respondents and one non-respondent 
expressed reservations about the use of an RFP to decide which projects would 
receive funding. 


• Those who submitted proposals said that the technical data was reasonable, 
particularly for the Track 1 projects that would be completed before the end of 
2007. Financial requirements were generally more challenging for respondents, 
primarily because of the uncertainty surrounding turbine availability, cost and 
interconnection to the grid, and the future value of green tags.  


• While the RFP listed a set of selection criteria for both Track 1 and Track 2 
projects and most respondents found those criteria easy to understand, several 
developers who submitted proposals wondered how projects would be compared 
against each other. Evaluation of proposals was also complicated by the 
uncertainty noted above, which made it particularly difficult to determine the 
extent of above market costs for any specific project.  


• Community Wind: an Oregon Guidebook published for Energy Trust by 
Northwest SEED has been widely downloaded and is well regarded by people 
who have read it, but does not appear to have prompted any individual or group to 
pursue a wind project without a developer. The Guidebook is being used as an 
effective educational tool by developers to use with land owners and others. 


 
Key barriers to community wind projects include the lack of turbines, high project 
initiation costs, and the difficulty of connecting to the grid. 


• Almost every project, no matter how promising, faces uncertainty both about the 
availability of turbines and about their price.  


• The high “transaction costs” of community wind projects reflect not only the 
numerous factors that must be investigated before a project can proceed, but also 







E:\BOARD PACKETS\2007 Files\07 10 03\Final\Wind FINAL Report ES.doc7/26/2007 3:32:00 PM 


Quantum Consulting Inc. 3 PECI EM&V Proposal 


the much greater magnitude of the cost of these investigations relative to the 
overall scope of the project.  


• Interconnection costs are particularly difficult for community wind projects, both 
because of the fixed costs associated with any interconnection and because of the 
reluctance of utilities to negotiate power purchase agreements with community-
scale organizations.   


 
Despite these barriers, recent and pending regulatory actions have the potential to 
significantly improve the prospects for community wind. 


• The Oregon legislature has passed a renewable portfolio standard that will require 
25% of the power produced in Oregon to be from renewable sources by 2025. 
This legislation also enables Energy Trust to focus exclusively on community 
wind rather than utility scale projects. 


• Oregon’s Business Energy Tax Credit is expected to be increased to 50% for 
projects up to $20 million, which would cover most of the community wind 
projects proposed in response to the RFP. 


• The Production Tax Credit (PTC) was renewed for 2008, and is expected to be 
renewed for subsequent years, although it is not clear whether a decision will be 
made covering multiple years that would eliminate the on-again/off-again nature 
of this credit and its disruptive effect on the market for turbines and wind power. 


• Establishment of new power purchase rates that utilities would pay to community 
wind (and other renewable) projects is expected by early summer of 2007.  


• For smaller scale wind projects, a redefinition of net metering that would allow 
power generated in the winter to offset power used in the summer may create 
potential for net-metered small wind projects for agricultural users in parts of the 
state with an adequate wind resource. 


 
The recommendations for Energy Trust going forward is to use a mix of strategies 
determined by the evolution of the market and the extent to which Energy Trust chooses 
to work with existing developers or encourage landowners and communities to act as 
their own developer. 


• If it is a goal to encourage individuals to develop their own projects, we believe 
and open or standing solicitation provides the needed flexibility.  


• For both landowner- and developer-driven projects, we believe a standard offer 
provides a clearly defined Energy Trust contribution available to all qualifying 
projects rather than the handful selected through the RFP process.  


• To further build on the strengths of the existing Energy Trust effort, we 
recommend that Energy Trust also continue to support the preliminary 
groundwork needed for all projects, including grant writing assistance and co-
funding for USDA grants, the anemometer loan program, analysis of wind data, 
and facilitation of negotiations with utilities on power purchase contracts. 


 








 


 
 
 
Energy Trust Staff Response to 
The Community Wind RFP Process Evaluation Findings and 
Conclusions 
October 3, 2007 
 
The evaluation results indicate that the design and implementation of the Community Wind RFP 
were successful. RFP requirements were clear, relevant market actors were aware of RFP, the 
information required for the RFP was seen as appropriate and timelines were reasonable. Issues 
with the value of green tags as well as the calculation of above market costs were also identified. 
The evaluation also showed that there were only a small number of viable market actors and 
that the RFP process did not address certain market barriers such as availability of turbines and 
grid interconnection.  
 
Current market conditions do not warrant issuing additional RFPs in the near future. Energy 
Trust has good relationships with all the active wind power developers and an open solicitation 
within and the pipeline of projects doing feasibility studies under the Wind Program are effective 
mechanisms for seeking further wind projects. The RFP process may be used again once the 
market develops a bit further. 
 
Energy Trust is working on ways to communicate clearly how above market costs are 
calculated. This is an issue that has come up in other programs and many potential project 
developers have difficulties with it as a concept as it is not something that is required elsewhere. 
 
In the area of green tags, Energy Trust has begun addressing this issue by changing the policy and 
hiring a consultant to develop forecasts of future green tag prices. These forecasts will be 
updated periodically and allow Energy Trust to better calculate the present value of tags 
associated with any project to help determine a more market-orientated sharing of tags . 
 
To assist projects with grid interconnection issues Energy Trust has on contract a transmission 
and distribution engineering consultant. The consultant will review utility and project proposals 
and provide feedback of the scope and costs associated with connecting a project to the grid. 
 
Energy Trust is still considering if it should change its role in helping to develop the wind 
market, such as taking a more active role in the acquisition of turbines. Any change in role 
would require discussion with the Energy Trust Board. Adoption of a “standard offer” is not 
being considered by Energy Trust at this time as project costs are remain too variable to 
establish a standard.  
 








FINAL REPORT 
  
  


Building Tune-Up and Operations Program Evaluation  
  
  


Prepared for: 
  


Phil Degens, Evaluation Manager 
Energy Trust of Oregon 


Portland, Oregon 
  
  
  


Prepared by: 
  


Linda Dethman 


Dethman & Associates 


Rick Kunkle 


Washington State University Energy Program 


  
  


Dethman & Associates  
 


Seattle, Washington 
  
  


  
  
  


March 2007 
  
  







 2


Executive Summary 
  
Energy Trust of Oregon’s (Energy Trust) Building Tune-Up and Operations Program 
(BTO) has three primary services: 1) boiler tune-ups, 2) building tune-ups, and 3) 
retrocommissioning (RCx).1  Boiler tune-up activities for the program are mostly 
complete, but building tune-up and retrocommissioning activities are still underway.  
This report describes the evaluation progress, results, and insights from program 
initiation in Summer 2005 through mid December 2006.    
  
The overall goal of the BTO evaluation is to provide Energy Trust feedback on how the 
program is progressing towards achieving its goals and to offer actionable 
recommendations that will help improve current or future program structure and delivery. 
To achieve this goal, the evaluation collected and reviewed program documentation, 
conducted interviews with program staff, boiler contractors, retrocommissioning service 
providers and boiler tune-up participants, and joined boiler technicians on two ride-
alongs to observe the boiler tune-up process.  The evaluation results for building tune-up 
and retrocommissioning activities are preliminary. A final evaluation memorandum in 
Summer 2007 will add the results of these continuing activities.    


Program Theory, Background, and Delivery 
Program staff believe substantial energy savings can be achieved through improved 
operation and maintenance (O&M) in commercial buildings.  The boiler tune-up portion 
of BTO provides a simple tune-up service that is expected to save approximately 2-5% of 
total annual boiler gas consumption.  This contrasts with the other elements of BTO that 
are intended to take a more comprehensive look at savings opportunities from O&M 
improvements throughout the building.   
 
The building tune-up and RCx services of the program presume that O&M services 
provided in the market place are not well defined or coordinated.  To address this 
fundamental problem of defining and coordinating services, BTO markets a set of service 
definitions and a step-by-step approach that service providers can use to help deliver 
building O&M services. Energy Trust staff viewed BTO as a pilot program to help prove 
if cost-effective energy savings can be delivered through building operation 
improvements.   
 
In 2005, Energy Trust hired Portland Energy Conservation Inc. as the Program 
Management Contractor (the PMC) to develop and manage the BTO.  PMC staff report 
that the boiler tune-up portion of the program is a traditional design that draws on the 
experience of similar programs throughout the country.  Boiler contractors drove boiler 
tune-ups, contacting customers, bringing in projects, conducting the tune-up, and filling 
out the paperwork.  


                                                 
1 Originally, building tune-ups and retrocommissioning were combined into one service, but they are 
currently being delivered and reported on separately.  The program also provides grants for Building 
Operator Certification, but this component is not considered in this evaluation. 







 3


 
The building tune-up element uses the Building Performance Services (BPS) approach, 
which had already been developed by the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA).  
NEEA leads building tune-up projects through initial contact, information gathering, 
scoping, and diagnostics.  Once a project gets to the implementation phase they 
coordinate with Energy Trust to provide incentives for implementing improvements and 
for measures that will help savings persist over time.   
 
The RCx track was added to the program in February 2006 to help the program meet its 
performance goals as projected building tune-up projects would not deliver the savings 
needed.  The PMC leads the initial steps of a RCx project, recruiting the participants and 
conducting enhanced screening to determine if sufficient opportunities exist for RCx. 
Once a project passes the enhanced screening phase, the client selects a service provider.  
The PMC develops the scope and a budget and the service provider conducts the building 
investigation to identify opportunities for improving building performance.  The owner 
reviews the recommendations, selects measures to implement, and chooses who will 
implement the measures. The final step in the process is to implement a persistence 
strategy to help maintain the energy savings. 


Summary of Findings 
• While BTO had a slow start, the PMC and Energy Trust worked well together to 


adjust the program and move forward.  This included working with NEEA to 
define goals and roles for delivering building tune-ups, adding the RCx track, 
adding budget to the boiler tune-up program to accommodate more projects, 
notifying boiler contractors the program would not be continued due to low 
savings, and creating a way to continue modest building tune-up and RCx efforts. 


 
• The boiler contractors recruited enough participants to fill the boiler queue and 


the initial tune-ups were completed and incentives paid well before the end of the 
BTO program.  Participants were very satisfied with the boiler tune-up program.  
However, the boiler tune-ups results were disappointing.  The boiler contractors 
had significant difficulty completing the boiler incentive and completion 
certification forms, program staff were concerned about the accuracy of the data 
on the forms, boiler savings were much less than expected, and most of the tune-
ups occurred at schools and universities, which tend to have smaller boilers that 
operate less than the boilers at other commercial institutions.  While this helps 
explain the lack of savings, questions remain about the viability of the market for 
boiler tune-ups.   


 
• Little progress has been made delivering energy savings from building tune-up 


projects, with only one new project being initiated since the start of BTO.  Several 
other building tune-up projects started as part of the BPS Test, but they have 
taken years to complete and a couple have been discontinued.  Explanations for 
the lack of progress include the split in responsibilities between NEEA and the 
PMC for delivery of tune-up projects, differences in the goals for NEEA (market 
transformation) and Energy Trust (resource acquisition and project delivery), the 







 4


lack of a well defined process to move projects forward to completion, and little 
motivation from trade allies to recruit building tune-up projects.   


 
• The seven projects recruited for the RCx portion of BTO have successfully 


progressed through the investigation phase.  These projects will likely deliver 
energy savings and help BTO meet its goals, although preliminary estimates show 
the levelized cost of the savings are above Energy Trust’s benchmark.  The PMC 
was successful recruiting participants from the target population of downtown 
Portland property owners, its enhanced screening worked well, and projects 
started in a timely fashion.  Service providers have shown they can deliver the 
RCx services defined by the program.  


Conclusions and Recommendations 
1. Conclusion: Program staff described BTO as a pilot, yet the overall program was not 


sold to Energy Trust’s Board as a pilot and it had resource acquisition targets and a 2-
year performance-based program management contract like other Energy Trust 
programs.  While some performance requirements were adjusted, the ability of the 
program to test approaches for obtaining energy savings from building operation 
improvements was limited because BTO was not set up as a pilot.  Nevertheless, a lot 
was learned through the openness and diligence of program staff and contractors.     


 
Recommendation: Energy Trust needs to consider whether or how it should conduct 
pilot programs. Conducting a pilot program with a small set of projects using a 
resource acquisition framework is not conducive to testing program alternatives, since 
resource acquisition documentation, reporting requirements, and performance goals 
draw significant resources away from the pilot effort.  While a pilot program can 
deliver energy savings, it should be set up to test specific delivery approaches with 
clear research questions and methods. The Evaluation Team should be involved in 
pilot program development.  This additional development and evaluation effort has a 
cost, but allows for a more thorough test of program delivery approaches.    


 
2. Conclusion:  The results show it is hard to justify a stand-alone boiler tune-up 


program or a program path that only offers boiler tune-ups.  While some of the 
challenges in boiler tune-up program delivery could be addressed through 
improvements in the forms and data collection and with experience, it is not clear 
there is a market with sufficient savings opportunities for boiler tune-ups.  The 
limited savings opportunity does not justify the investment in the program 
infrastructure to make the program successful.   


 
Recommendation: If Energy Trust is able to more clearly identify a market for boiler 
tune-ups and can target the boilers with savings potential, focused attention on boiler 
tune-ups might be justified. Otherwise, boiler tune-ups should be one of the service 
options available within Energy Trust’s Building Efficiency (BE) program and tune-
ups should be used in combination with other measures to improve boiler and 
building efficiency. The incentive forms should be simplified as much as possible, 
with input from boiler contractors, to improve the consistency and quality of data 







 5


collected from the tune-ups. Continued experience with boiler tune-ups will help 
show whether further research and development of this service offering is warranted.  


 
3. Conclusion: Ultimately, BTO has not been able to test the building tune-up process.  


Much of the program emphasis has been placed on RCx, where the PMC has more 
experience and control.  It is not clear whether the tune-up process developed by 
NEEA can be a cost-effective way to acquire energy savings from O&M 
improvements in buildings.   


 
Recommendation: Evaluation results suggest that testing the viability of building 
tune-ups requires a more comprehensive and integrated effort.  This may be beyond 
the primary goals of Energy Trust, but defining and testing a tune-up approach that 
has the potential for quickly and cost-effectively delivering energy savings from 
O&M measures is clearly needed.  Such a test could address these questions:  
• Can tune-up projects be done in a timely fashion?  Most of the BTO building 


tune-up projects took a couple of years to complete and experienced delays.  For 
tune-up projects to be successful, does this process need to be significantly 
shortened? 


• Are incentives needed to implement the recommendations from a tune-up 
investigation?  The one completed BTO building tune-up project implemented the 
recommended measures without an incentive and the total payback was less than 
a year.  Ideally a tune-up project should be finding low cost measures.  Are such 
measures enough of an incentive for an owner to proceed? 


• Is the tune-up process different from a RCx process?  The steps in the BTO tune-
up are similar to those used in the RCx process, but with somewhat less rigor.  
The tune-up service providers included some controls contractors, while the RCx 
service providers all had commissioning backgrounds.  Should these two 
processes be more clearly distinguished from one another and if so, how? 


 
4. Conclusion: The RCx approach being used by BTO appears to be a viable way to 


produce energy savings from O&M measures.  While this type of program is a 
valuable part of Energy Trust’s portfolio, the cost is higher than their other energy 
efficiency programs.   


 
Recommendation:  Energy Trust plans to incorporate RCx into the BE program.  
This is a good way to reduce the infrastructure costs of RCx, while continuing to offer 
the service.  Energy Trust should continue to maintain a modest RCx approach to 
gain experience with the delivery of this service and to explore how it can integrate 
into existing service offerings.  Energy Trust should track similar programs in other 
states as well as initiatives at NEEA to learn from their experiences.   
 


5. Conclusion.  Organizations involved with energy efficiency have pointed to the large 
energy savings potential from O&M improvements in existing buildings, but have 
had mixed success tapping this potential.  Any existing buildings energy efficiency 
program that strives to significantly improve the performance of existing buildings 
will need to address building O&M.  However, programs focused on O&M have 







 6


tended to be expensive and difficult to manage.  The results for BTO are consistent 
with this experience.   


 
Recommendation. One way Energy Trust can address this issue is to merge these 
services into the BE program.  We believe Energy Trust should more fully explore 
how it can leverage existing program infrastructure to obtain energy savings from 
O&M services, asking questions such as: To what extent can O&M services be 
integrated with existing building efficiency and training programs?  Like new 
construction programs, can there be a “whole buildings” approach for existing 
buildings that offers a comprehensive range of integrated services that aim to produce 
a high performance building?  How should O&M be included with new energy 
efficient equipment programs to ensure the long-term reliability of energy savings? 
O&M services often have difficulty standing on their own because the energy savings 
are not large enough to justify the investment in the project.  To survive, either the 
investment needs to be reduced, or the services need to be included in a more 
comprehensive package.   


 


 








 


 
 
Energy Trust Staff Response to 
The Building Tune-Up and Operations Program Evaluation 
Findings and Conclusions 
October 3, 2007 
 
The evaluation results support the Energy Trust’s decision to halt the Building Tune-Up and 
Operations Program as it is currently conceived. The program has served its purpose as a pilot 
program showing that the two main services that were offered through the program either 
provided high savings that exceed the benchmarks established by the PUC in the case of 
retrocommissioning (RCx) or non-cost effective savings as a stand-alone measure in the case of 
boiler tune-ups.  
 
Energy Trust has moved RCx services to the Existing Buildings program, but currently is not 
marketing them heavily. This allows Energy Trust to continue to gain experience in this area 
without incurring a large investment. Other areas of the country are mounting larger RCx 
programs and Energy Trust will be able to adopt successful implementation strategies once they 
have been proven in those regions. Energy Trust may accelerate RCx if there is increased 
electric funding in 2008 or later. 
 
Energy Trust found that it is difficult to accurately estimate savings for boiler tune-ups. And that 
the savings that were estimated did not result in a cost effective stand-alone measure. 
 
Another interesting finding is that many commercial buildings’ boilers seemed to be getting 
tuned on a regular basis. The participants that participated heavily in the initiative are facilities 
that may not otherwise be able to have their boilers tuned due to lack of funding (e.g. schools). 
For existing commercial gas boilers Energy Trust must do further research into what bundle of 
services can be cost-effectively offered. Controls, cleaning steam traps, and pipe insulation are 
measures and services that can be considered. For some systems early replacement with an 
efficient condensing boiler and “right sizing” the equipment might be a cost effective option. The 
primary challenge is how to develop an effective and cost-effective system to market and deliver 
these measures. 
 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) has been developing and testing a variety of 
building efficiency services in collaboration with Energy Trust and other regional utilities. NEEA’s 
market transformation strategy leaves much of the marketing and project development in the 
hands of commercial O&M service contractors. Initially simple tune-up services were envisioned 
to be part of the Energy Trust program, but to prevent confusion in the market place these 
services were left to NEEA to promote as part of their Better Bricks program.. Few projects 
came about and were completed from these activities both due to a redesign of the program by 
NEEA and the general difficulty to get maintenance contractors and commercial customers to 
commit to engaging these types of services.  
 
These services are also being promoted by BOMA and the EPA with online and local trainings 
through their BOMA Energy Efficiency Program (BEEP) program. As with RCx services, Energy 
Trust views this as a developing market that should be monitored to determine when or if we 
should do another foray with a standalone program into the market. Until that time Energy 
Trust is supporting a variety of research projects and limited RCx projects through existing 
programs that will support a future program focusing on commercial O&M services. 








 
 
 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting Sept. 19, 2007 


 
Attending from the Council:           
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48 
Charlie Grist, NW Power & Conservation Council 
Andria Jacobs, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Karen Meadows, BPA  (replacing Ken Keating) 
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Paul Olson, Oregon Remodelers Association 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Fred Gordon 
Diane Ferington 
Steve Lacey 
Brooke Nelson 
Elaine Prause 
Jan Schaeffer 
Jill Steiner 
Kendall Youngblood 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Tom Beverly 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
William Gold, PE Consulting 
Chuck Klang 
Doug Oppedal, Evergreen/Energy Trust 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions. He noted the October agenda will be 
devoted to the 2008 budget and action plan.  
 
2. Q2 results  
Steve reported Energy Trust acquired 4.78 aMW in Q2. He noted that Q2 results had achieved 32% of 
goal. At end August, we were at 69% of the conservative goal, 52% of the best case goal. On the gas 
side, we saved 431,458 therms, 35% of the conservative case goal for the year. August was a big month 
for gas as well.  
 
He noted 1,200 home energy reviews in Q2, and 2,890 single family homes retrofitted. 4,800 clothes 
washers were sold. 564 commercial buildings were treated.  
 
New Buildings. Spencer noted we are doing well on the gas side because one large CHP project closed 
that was not expected to complete. He noted an increase in projects in the pipeline attributing that to 
more outreach. They are expected to be complete in 2009 or 2010.  
 







CAC Notes – Sept. 19, 2007     


 2


Existing Buildings. Greg Stiles said we’re tracking well on the electric and gas savings side. This program 
more than any other has a year-end hockey stick effect. We were underspent 41% on the electric side 
due to delays in project completion. He noted the recompete of the Program Management Contract 
concluded with selection of Lockheed Martin. This was the second time they’ve had to recompete. 
There was stiff competition. Lockheed Martin was selected because their proposal included ideas for 
expanding the program and improved quality control. In other program news, Greg noted a series of 
marketing materials have been created for the lodging and foodservice/restaurant market. We’ve been 
working closely with the Oregon Lodging Association and Oregon Restaurant Association. We worked 
hard with the RTF to get these measures approved so they can be used by BPA throughout the region.  
 
Production Efficiency. Elaine Prause said the apparent shortfall in meeting goal was the result of the large 
S.P. Newsprint project slipping into Q3. She noted the Blue Heron project is currently achieving 70% of 
expected savings due to market conditions. China is siphoning off the supply of recycled paper that Blue 
Heron uses as a raw material. She noted commitments for 15 projects through the small industrial 
initiative, totaling 663,508 kWh savings and $100,891 incentive payments. She also launched a food 
processing initiative, only to discover these companies are too busy during summer to pay attention; 
they will refocus in October.  
 
Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes. Diane Ferington noted we are overspent on gas, and have 
savings to match. Costs are covered by the surplus carryover gas funds. She noted energy advisors have 
been trained to promote solar measures during home energy reviews. She noted this program also went 
through a recompete process. CSG was the only company to respond. They nevertheless received a 
thorough review before the selection committee agreed to select them. Paul Olson asked if we were 
looking for homes with old solar water heating systems that could be retrofit or replaced. Kacia said we 
are getting a new intern. Depending on his/her skills, she might assign this person to this task. 
 
ENERGY STAR New Homes & Products. Kendall Youngblood noted electric savings are strong thanks to 
the Spring CFL promotion cooperatively marketed with BPA; the new home market is gravely affected 
by the sub-prime market collapse and savings expected from this sector are significantly lower than 
projected. The premium efficiency clothes washer program is at 64% of goal, CFL fundraiser is 109% 
compared to 2004-5; the manufactured home program had a strong uptake. She noted the new homes 
program finalized and rolled out paperwork for ENERGY STAR multifamily homes. To offset the 
downturn in the housing market, the team is working to increase therm savings through stand-alone 
measures, including tankless water heaters. Charlie Grist asked if the penetration rate stayed strong; 
Kendall said it is growing. Builders continue to sign up in record numbers; they just aren’t building. 
 
Solar water heating. Kacia Brockman said we are short of goal but growing compared to past years. 
Attendance at the Solar Expo this year was double last year’s attendance. A lot of people said they’ve 
heard of solar in the news and are just beginning to think about it. She noted focus groups conducted 
recently with solar participants and those who had attended solar workshops or obtained solar 
information kits. This will lead to new messaging to be included in our materials. She distributed the 
2007 Green + Solar Magazine. The increase in BETC to 50% for renewable systems includes commercial 
solar water heating systems. She looks forward to rule changes that would raise the ceiling on costs of 
solar water heating systems that are eligible for tax credits. If this were done, it would dramatically 
move the market, she thinks.  
 
NW Energy Efficiency Alliance. Steve said they appear to be on track for savings and expenditures. Bruce 
notes the NEEA work tends to be more focused on O&M, while Energy Trust focuses on capital 
investments. He has observed some instances of lack of communication. Steve noted the Alliance 
sponsored a contest with BOMA to recognize the most energy efficient Portland office buildings using 







CAC Notes – Sept. 19, 2007     


 3


the ENERGY STAR Portfolio Manager benchmarking platform. In the industrial sector, the Alliance 
supported EnVinta One-2-Five assessments.  
 
Steve Bicker wondered if we think we’ll get as much gas savings this year as last. Steve Lacey said we are 
shooting for 2.4 million therms. We achieved 2.3 million therms last year.  
 
3. Energy Trust trade ally network oversight  
After an introduction by Steve Lacey, Tom Beverly presented information on our plans to centralize 
administration of the trade ally network. Right now each program has its own trade ally network. Trade 
allies must sign up separately for each program. Each PMC separately collects the materials, licenses etc. 
The result is confusion. Trade allies have asked for the system to be improved. We propose to hire a 
central trade ally coordinator to streamline the communication and administration. PMC trade ally 
coordinators would continue to provide program outreach and support services. They will be 
responsible for field training on program-specific matters.  
 
Steve said the trade ally coordinator also will coordinate the ATAC network that will be brought in 
house. Contracts would be between engineering firms and Energy Trust.  This is being done in part for 
the same reasons noted above and due to Production Efficiency and Existing Buildings requiring ATAC 
services.  Under current practices there would be duplicative agreements with Energy Trust, the 
Existing Buildings PMC and the ATAC, it makes sense to reduce administrative burden for all parties by 
having one contract with Energy Trust.  He asked for input.  
 
Joe Esmonde recalled three years ago trade contractors got frustrated getting through hoops. He hopes 
the result will be more of his folks joining the network. Numerous other CAC members joined in 
discussion about details, Steve concluded there was general agreement that centralizing administration 
of trade ally sign-ups and processing would be an improvement over status quo. Steve said the 
coordinator staffing request and notification of this change in practice will go to the board in October.  
 
4. SB 838 Incremental Efficiency Funding  
Fred Gordon said this law permits PGE and Pacific Power to fund additional efficiency spending .  PUC 
and utilities have agreed that it will be justified through their integrated resource planning processes.  
Energy Trust is working with utilities to identify potential savings above what the public purpose charges 
in SB1149 funds will pay for.  This could amount to $15 million in the first year. Customers over 1 aMW 
are exempted from paying for these programs, although the definition of who these customers are is 
not yet settled. We are working closely with PGE and Pacificorp to integrate their and our efforts under 
the proposals.  Funding amounts are highly preliminary and subject to change during the rate filing 
process to occur over the next few months.   PGE plans to file October first and may include some 
money for them to help market ET efficiency programs. 
 
This means Energy Trust will no longer go after only the low hanging fruit. It involves increasing volume 
in established markets and develop markets that currently have low participation. Levelized costs will go 
up. We will work closely with utilities to develop coordinated marketing. We will focus on creating 
more bundled offerings and market them better. We will develop more niche incentives and products.  
 
We would only increase incentives in 2008 only where it is fairly clear that money is the primary 
inhibitor of volume. We will continue to provide integration with tax credits in how we present service 
offerings to customers. We will take some risks to help verify new products through demonstrations 
and pilots. We continue to push national action to get efficient gas and electric products into the 
market.  
 







CAC Notes – Sept. 19, 2007     


 4


Karen Meadows said she hears us say we could double the savings. Fred answered we may not hit the 
target right on the nose in year one but we think we could do a lot more than we’ve been doing. Most 
of the opportunity is in commercial, some in small industrial and new small buildings and in residential. 
Steve Lacey said 2008 is going to be a build year ramping up focused initiatives developed in 2007 under 
current programs.  
 
Bruce Dodds said there’s been a lot of buzz with building owners recently regarding how helpful Energy 
Trust has been and how difficult it has been to work with ODOE on tax credits. Fred invited more 
detail. Bruce provided the example of a remodel seeking to put in controls; ODOE said this is code and 
wouldn’t give tax credits. Fred said an evaluation will determine whether those projects need tax credits 
and incentives or not to move forward.  
 
Charlie Grist thinks a lot of the opportunity is through lighting. Fred Gordon talked about Energy 
Trust’s intent to take on a community energy project in an Oregon community. Andria Jacobs suggested 
we contact a new economic development person in OSD, Tom Osdoba, who is interested in innovative 
strategies for neighborhood-wide involvement in major renewable energy and sustainability initiatives.  
 
Karen said BPA recently finished looking around the country at cutting edge approaches. PG&E has 
relationships with 40 or so cities, whose programs allow them to reach segments that utility programs 
typically don’t reach. Puget Sound just did research on CFLs: who are not buying them yet. She thinks 
coordination is helpful to all. Fred said we’re doing research on mini-split heat pumps; he thinks the RTF 
is going to take on the deeper monitoring research on mini-splits. We will provide Karen a link to 
Energy Trust’s Community Energy Study.  
 
Bruce noted other strategies such as split metering in multifamily homes, so renters can control their 
own usage. Lauren Shapton said increasingly owners are charging renters, splitting the bills evenly.  
 
Fred said that ET will bring more detail to the October CAC meeting. He noted it’s difficult to pinpoint 
spending and savings for submarkets and individual technologies in resource assessments and forecasts.  
The tools are more reliable at providing aggregate answers.   Lauren said PGE had hired the same 
consultants that did the resource assessment for Energy Trust to help pull together their forecasts for 
their SB838 efficiency funding proposal. 
   
The meeting adjourned at 3:45 pm 
 
The next meeting will be Oct. 17, 2007. Main agenda topic will be budget.  








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on July 18, 2007. 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Troy Gagliano, RNP 
Angus Duncan, BEF 
Frank Vingola, UOSRML 
Jeff King 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Lizzie Giles 
Erin Johnston 
Eric  
Alan Cowan 
Adam Serchuk 
Jill Steiner 
Betsy Kauffman 
Tara Crookshank 
John Volkman 
Kendall Youngblood 


Attending from the Board: 
Alan Meyer, Weyerhaeuser 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 
 
Others attending: 
Dave Tooze, City of Portland 
Jon Miller, OSEIA 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Jan Lee, Swalley Irrigation District


 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter convened the meeting at 9:40 am. The June notes were adopted without change.  


2. Demonstration project policy 


Peter said with the focus on projects of 20 MW and less resulting from SB 838, Energy Trust has 
turned toward developing a pipeline of projects is critical to long-term success. Developing new 
markets and opportunities often requires demonstration projects. And, often the best 
demonstration opportunity does not exist in PGE or Pacific Power territory, or even Oregon. 


Staff has developed a draft protocol for demonstration projects. First, these demonstrations 
must lead to projects. They must also have a dissemination plan that shows to whom and how 
the demonstration will be presented. Incentives will be based on a standard analysis. And most 
critical, the project must deliver benefits to Energy Trust’s stakeholders in the form of 
electricity, green tags or both.  


Staff has identified two types of demonstration projects: demonstrations of pre-commercial 
technology, and demonstrations of commercial technology not in common use in Oregon. 
When considering pre-commercial technology,  projects must be installed under realistic 
conditions for a reasonable duration (at least 5 years). Priority will be give to projects deemed 
to deliver power for a longer term, ideally 15 to 20 years. The project must be owned by a 
stable business entity, and the project must have market significance. Technology that can fill a 
niche or compete with existing systems to improve quality and/or drive down prices will be 
given priority. 







RAC notes – 7/18/2007 


 2


In most cases, these projects will pose higher risk than projects using commercial 
technology. Reflecting these risks, project owners may require a higher-than-usual rate 
of return.  While Energy Trust may accommodate the need for higher returns, we will 
require program participants (or their project partners) that stand to gain financially 
from the development of a new technology to share some of that risk.  We also 
acknowledge that demonstrations of pre-commercial technology pose higher risks for 
Energy Trust, due to technology failures. 


The other demonstration type project that will be considered will be commercial 
technology not widely available in Oregon or not commonly used by specific market 
segment. These demonstrations will differ from standard projects chiefly in their higher 
costs associated with publicity, tours and related activities to inform the market.  The 
evaluation criteria above for duration, operator and market significance would be used 
to evaluate the value of the additional cost for demonstrations of commercial 
technology. 


Jeff asked if staff had considered how they would treat a component of a facility, e.g. a 
fuel gathering or processing system that is novel. Peter said that this had not been 
considered. The project would have to contribute directly to the generation of energy. 
Improving a process to make it cleaner or more efficient at processing fuels would be a 
great value.  


John asked what the implications would be on staff time, and suggested an RFP to tap 
into interest generated by SB 838. Peter responded that an RFP, if offered, would be late 
2008 or early 2009 due to the numerous new initiatives and program offerings on the 
table. Staff time will be a critical issue in the coming years. 


Frank said that flexibility is key when dealing with untried technologies. Energy Trust 
should develop guidelines, but allow plenty of room for new opportunities and to react 
to circumstances as they arise.   


Jon said he approved of a more formalized policy, but questioned the amount of 
resources Energy Trust would dedicate to this initiative. Peter said the amount would 
be fleshed out during this budget cycle. The thinking is that every program would set 
aside some funding for out-of-the-box opportunities, so that the funding would be 
program specific, as opposed to going through the Open Solicitation Program. This will 
be 2009 and beyond.  


The next steps will be to take this before the Board., Comments prior t 


3. Swalley Irrigation District hydro project 
Betsy introduced Jan Lee from the Swalley Irrigation District in Bend. Swalley Irrigation District 
is requesting $916,386 in funding to install a hydropower project totaling 750 kilowatts (kW) 
below an existing diversion in Bend.  The project is expected to be completed in mid-2008. Staff 
recommends that the Open Solicitation Program provide up to $916,386 in funding. The total 
project cost is $10,436,585.  Because of the project’s watershed benefits, Swalley has 
successfully secured commitments for seven grants totaling $4,228,865 from agencies and 
organizations including the Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board, Deschutes River 
Conservancy, and the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation.  The rest of the project’s funding 







RAC notes – 7/18/2007 


 3


would come from a loan, a BETC pass-through, and the additional fundraising or cost-savings 
mentioned above. 


The project would be Energy Trust’s first hydropower project developed by an irrigation 
district.  We are expecting others to follow because of new state legislation allowing an 
expedited process for secondary use of an existing water right at an existing diversion under 
certain conditions and the fact that many of these projects at existing diversions qualify for an 
exemption from regular Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) licensing requirements. 


Energy Trust has identified $532,000 in above-market costs, Energy Trust’s incentive of 
$916,386 will be paid on production over 15 years, giving it a net present value of $530,754. 
Energy Trust’s incentive is contingent on Swalley Irrigation District being approved for a loan 
from the State Energy Loan Program and raising an additional $1,000,000 in funding for the 
project.  Part or all of the $1,000,000 could come from bids that are lower than estimated costs. 


In addition to the quantifiable benefits of the project, staff believes this project will benefit 
Energy Trust by developing our relationship with irrigation districts and open the door to other 
hydropower projects, and allowing the Energy Trust to fund hydroelectric generation in a safe, 
fish friendly fashion. Because of its benefits for in-stream flows, water quality, the watershed and 
associated fish and wildlife, the project serves an example of a multi-partner/multi-benefit 
project in a water-challenged part of the state and sets the stage for other such cooperative 
endeavors. 


Frank asked where the water is coming from. Jan replied that the district is piping five miles of 
the canal (from the diversion point in the city of Bend to a point 5.1 miles northwest of Bend) 
to allow more water to be returned to the stream.  The closed pressurized pipe will allow the 
district to use 81 cfs of water, and return 27 cfs of water to the Deschutes River for the benefit 
of the watershed and associated wildlife, and as a permanent in-stream water right. 


John asked what months water will not flow. Jan replied that the system will run during the 200 
day irrigation season from April 1 through October 31. 


Jeff asked about the 27 cfs returned to the river. Jan replied that this will be an avoided 
diversion. Jeff asked if there would be contractual obligations that this will remain undiverted. 
Jan said that there are protections in place. 


The RAC expressed support for the project. Staff plans to bring the proposal to the Board for 
approval in August, 2007. 


4. Renewable Energy Goals 


Peter presented a first draft of the new goals for the renewable energy programs in light of the 
new focus on projects under 20MW. The first step in developing the new goals is to forecast 
future revenues from the utilities and the relative program shares by utility by year. Staff 
considers cost trends by technology, based on EIA, trade groups and publications by industry 
experts. Electricity price forecasts come from utility IRPs and QF filings. Variations an changes in 
tax benefits and energy policies such as RPS’ and CO2 regulations, are very unpredictable and 
pose considerable challenges.  


Thus far, staff has acquired, on average, 3.2 aMW annually by the end of 2008. This does not 
include community wind projects due to the difficulty of acquiring turbines. The proposed 
annual goals are a range. In 2009, the low end is 4 aMW and best case is 6 aMW. By 2016, the 







RAC notes – 7/18/2007 


 4


low case should be 4.5 aMW, and the best case at 8.5 aMW. On average, this is 4.5 aMW on the 
low end and 7 aMW in the best case.  


By 2016, there should be cumulatively 38 aMW of community based generation, with a best case 
of 55 aMW. This assumes the current policies and tax benefits stay in place. 


Frank asked about the flattening of the generation in 2015/16. Peter responded that this reflects 
a leveling of the price drop in commercial technologies over time.  


John asked what technologies were included in Open Solicitation. Peter replied that hydro and 
geothermal were considered. Wave was not considered because there are no reliable price 
forecasts for wave.  


Jeff asked how inflation in the cost of technologies has been addressed in the model. Peter 
replied that he based prices in what they are today. In solar, they are forecasting a leveling of 
prices, and ultimately a decrease. For wind, belief is that prices will increase another 10%, and 
the gradually descend. For Biomass, there was no expectation that prices would increase. The 
technology improvement assumptions are based on today’s situation. 


Alan asked how much will be spent to acquire this generation. Peter replied 80% of the budget 
would be spent in generation acquisition, with the remaining overhead on administration, 
feasibility studies and market development. The forecasted income is roughly $11 M per year. 
The actual budget for these kinds of projects will increase, perhaps as much as 40%, but there 
will be a delay through 2008. The first year that is solely focused on <20MW project will be 
2009.  


This will begin to inform the OPUC benchmarks and the goal setting as part of the budgeting 
process for 2008/9 and beyond.  


Jon said that he hopes there is a lot of collaboration between ODOE and Energy Trust with an 
eye toward collaboration on the incentives. ODOE is entering rulemaking. There is the 
possibility of a six month evaluation cycle for the BETC cap, and hopefully Energy Trust will 
work alongside to develop the best incentive package possible.  Peter replied that there will 
certainly be collaboration, particularly with small wind and solar.  


5. Green tag exemption for PV on new homes 
Lizzie presented a proposal from Policy Committee that would temporarily exempt new spec 
homes from the ETO green tag policy.   
 
She explained that the reason for the proposal is that the green tag policy creates a barrier to 
widespread adoption of solar technology by homebuilders.  They are already hesitant to pursue 
new technologies because of cost and the fact that it upsets their system for getting a house 
built.  We have an opportunity now, however, because of some strong interest by about a 
dozen builders in installing solar technology on spec homes.  Some of them are volume builders 
and Energy Trust would like to capitalize on this opportunity. 
 
The problem is that our relationship is usually directly with the homeowner who is also the 
owner of a solar system.  In the case of a spec home, our relationship is with the builder who 
then transfers ownership of the solar energy system – and the tags – to the home purchaser.  
That necessitates that the builder have a process for telling the homeowner that s/he doesn’t 
own the tags, can’t claim to be green or to be reducing his/her environmental footprint.  When 







RAC notes – 7/18/2007 


 5


this information is introduced when the builder is trying to make a sale, it introduces enough 
complexity to make a builder decide that it’s not worth the trouble to have solar on a home.   
 
Because of this, we are recommending that for one year, we make an exemption from our 
green tag policy and allow homeowners to own the tags.  The solar program expects this would 
apply to the sale of about 35 systems, which translates to 77 tags or 1/100 of the annual tags 
produced by the renewable energy program. 
 
It would allow time to develop the new homes market and educate builders about solar and 
about tags. 
 
Alan Meyer asked how much incentive money would support the 35 systems.  Lizzie responded 
that the best-scenario is that this would be a $150,000 investment from Energy Trust.  Alan said 
that if we don’t have the tags, we have nothing – that ratepayers are subsidizing tags without 
getting the benefit.  He said he would vote no, despite the fact that he believes the reasons for 
the exemptions make sense.  Peter asked if he would take that position even if it prevents 
Energy Trust from breaking into a new market.  Alan said he is concerned about the precedent 
the exemption would set.  Peter said this would not be a precedent forever, just for a narrow 
time period necessary to break into this market.  He said the tag issue is a foreign concept for 
the builders. 


Frank Vignola said that putting ownership of tags into sale of a house complicates the sale; 
builders will end up installing solar without ETO or not do it at all.  It’s a difficult issue because it 
creates a situation where a builder can’t advertise that this ia green house, but that’s why 
they’re adding the solar – it’s a green feature.  


Alan said it is a green house.  He wondered if the tags could be retired on behalf of the utility 
and the homeowner?   


Jill Steiner asked if we could we have a process for educating homeowners.  Lizzie said the  
feedback from builders is that this will increase the risk for them to bring the issue up when 
they’re tryng to do a sale and they’ll avoid the problem by not adding solar.   


Lori Koho asked if the incentive is enough to be the deciding factor of whether they’ll put the 
solar on the house.  Lizzie said that the builders won’t install solar without an ETO incentive.  
They don’t want to have home sit unsold because of a higher price which they would need to 
charge if they can’t recoup some of their costs by accessing the ETO incentive. 


Doug Boleyn said he recently attended a solar convention where information on home values 
was presented.  He learned that in California, solar does not a home’s cost, but its value inflated 
faster than non-solar homes.  He said that the risk to builders is perceived, not real and that 
builders are not perceiving the benefit of solar yet.  They still feel installing solar is too risky 
without Energy Trust.   


Lizzie pointed out that California builders have entered the solar market; that hasn’t happened 
in Oregon.   


Jon Miller said that this market is important because it brings solar to the mainstream, which is 
where we want it.  He said that Lizzie’s concerns are correct -- builders don’t know where to 
start with solar.  Asking them to wade into this and fit it into their process is a lot.  Adding the 
complication of tags when they don’t know what tags are is a deal-killer.  The tag issue is a 
barrier to getting builders to build spec homes with solar.  Maybe we can promote this as a 
special program for 2008 that will be re-evaluated and dropped after we penetrate the market. 


Alan asked if we can we do this without talking about tags?  As long as a homeowner doesn’t 
sell the tags, it’s not an issue.  There should be a way of doing it and saying the home is green. 







RAC notes – 7/18/2007 


 6


Peter said that if you want the tags to be retired on behalf of the ratepayers, you need to go 
through a specific process.  Unless the PUC allows us to just assert a right to tags, they must be 
specifically transferred. 


Lori mentioned that PGE is talking about offering loans through the electric bill and the loan 
transfer to the new homeowner should the home be sold.  She asked if we can have a discussion 
with the utility to have a way to just have this on the bill? What is the legality of having a 
development with solar that puts you on a special rate schedule that addresses the tag issue? 


Jon said that would just be a barrier to builders.  They have a specific process for churning out a 
home and we want to interrupt the process as little as possible 


Lizzie said that the builder doesn’t sell the house, a realtor or sales team does, so there are 
multiple layers of communication and room for error or complexity. 


Alan says he lives with homeowner restrictions that restrict all kinds of things.  Why should this 
be any different? 


John Reynolds asked if this could come up when the homeowner calls the electric company to 
turn on the power. Then it would be an issue between the homeowner and the utility rather 
than the builder and ETO. 


Lizzie said the policy committee okayed the exemption as long as we would revisit it in a specific 
timeframe. 


Lori said that the scenario that went to John Savage was for a specific development and builder, 
so she will need to re-present it to him.  Peter doesn’t want to have to come back to PUC for 
each individual builder and development. 


Frank expects that people who buy these homes would sell the tags because they’re valuable.  
Penetrating the homebuilder market requires a home buyer get the tags.  Otherwise it’s a waste 
of time for ETO to pursue this market.   


Jon said that a special tariff would present a barrier.  He doesn’t want to make things any more 
complex for solar customers.   


Peter said this will come up again at the August board meeting. 


Jon said that BEF, the utilities, and 3 Phases should be invited to weigh in.  Lori said that CUB  
should also to weigh in to make sure that ratepayers’ interests are protected.   


 


Peter adjourned the meeting at 11:30am.  





